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INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER 

2. CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

2.1 NAME AND INCORPORATION 

Global SeaFarms Corporation (the “Issuer”, “the “Corporation”)  

Head office: 1 Place Ville-Marie, Suite 1812 
Montréal, Québec 
H3B 4A9 

Registered office: 1 Place Ville-Marie, Suite 1812 
Montréal, Québec 
H3B 4A9 

 

2.2 LEGAL STATUS 

The Issuer is incorporated under the Canadian Business Corporations Act (the “CBCA”). 

2.3 INTERCORPORATE RELATIONSHIPS 

The structure of the Issuer and of its subsidiaries is as follows: 

 

The Issuer has one wholly-owned subsidiary, Global SeaFarms Group Inc./Groupe 
Mariculture Global inc. (“GSF”), a corporation incorporated under the CBCA and based in 
Montreal, Québec, Canada. GSF’s head office is located at 1 Place Ville-Marie, Suite 1812, 
Montréal, Québec, H3B 4A9, and its telephone number is (514) 825-0007. The Company’s 
web site address is www.globalseafarms.com.  

Global SeaFarms Corporation 
(Canada) 

Global SeaFarms Group Inc./Groupe Mariculture Global inc. 
(Canada) 

Caribbean Sea Farms, SLR 
(Dominican Republic) 

100% of the voting shares

99.8% of the voting shares
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GSF has one subsidiary, Caribbean Sea Farms SLR (“CSF”), a company incorporated 
under the laws of the Dominican Republic (the “DR”). CSF is the primary operating entity of 
the company and owner of all the currently held operating assets of the business.  

CSF is a limited liability company that was formed for the purposes of implementing GSF’s 
business development strategy in the Dominican Republic.  CSF has 1,000 issued and 
outstanding shares, of which 998 are owned by GSF and one share is owned by each of W. 
Cameron McDonald and Robert Boisjoli (respectively the President and Secretary of CSF 
and the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of GSF). Corporate law in the 
Dominican Republic requires at least two shareholders. Mr. McDonald and Mr. Boisjoli have 
entered into an agreement with GSF under which they convey all economic benefits and 
voting rights to GSF.  

2.4 LISTING TRANSACTION HISTORY 

Immediately before the listing of the Issuer’s common shares on the Canadian National 
Stock Exchange (the “ CNSX”) in June 2012, the Issuer had completed a transaction under 
which it acquired all of GSF’s common shares and convertible securities (the “GSF 
Acquisition”).   

Prior to the closing of the GSF Acquisition, the Issuer consolidated all of its outstanding 
share capital on the basis of 1 new common share of the Issuer for 50 existing Class A 
Shares (the “Consolidation”).  Accordingly, the Consolidation resulted in the 94,583,000 
pre-consolidation Class A Shares issued and outstanding at that time being consolidated 
into 1,891,666 Class A Shares, on a post-consolidation basis. Unless otherwise specified 
herein, all references to the Issuer’s common shares in this Listing Statement are made on 
a post-Consolidation basis. 

Immediately after completion of the Consolidation, the Issuer acquired all of the issued and 
outstanding common shares and other securities of GSF by way of share exchange.  As 
part of the GSF Acquisition, each common share of GSF has been exchanged for 10 
common shares of the Issuer.  The outstanding securities of GSF convertible into common 
shares of GSF, including convertible debentures, warrants and stock options, were also 
exchanged for comparable convertible securities of the Issuer on the same terms except, in 
the case of convertible securities of GSF, with such adjustments to the number of common 
shares of the Issuer that may be acquired and the exercise price therefor as are required to 
reflect the foregoing exchange ratio and consolidation ratio.  

 

2.5 CORPORATE LEGISLATION 

The Issuer and GSF are incorporated under the CBCA. 

CSF is incorporated under the Dominican Commercial Law and is subject to the Dominican 
Commercial Code which is a legal system rooted in the traditions of the Civil Code.  
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3. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS  

3.1 HISTORY & BACKGROUND 

The shares of the Issuer were initially listed for trading, as a Capital Pool Company, on the 
Canadian Venture Exchange (now TSX Venture Exchange Inc.) (the “TSX-V”) in August 
2000.  

At that time, the Issuer was named “French Riviera Capital Inc.” In October of 2002, the 
Issuer completed its Qualifying Transaction when it acquired Cité Amérique Inc., a company 
in the television and film production business, and changed its name to “FRV Media Inc.”. 
From 2004 to 2006, the Issuer acquired a number of other companies in the media sector. 
In 2009, the Issuer sold all of its operating subsidiaries leaving it a reporting issuer listed on 
the TSX-V without any active business activities and was seeking opportunities to acquire a 
new business. In September 2009 the shares of FRV Media Inc. were moved for trading 
from the TSX Venture Exchange to the NEX. 

From 2009 until the completion of the GSF Acquisition, the Issuer has had no material 
operations of any kind and remained a reporting issuer in good standing in the Provinces of 
British Columbia, Alberta and Quebec. In January 2012 FRV executed a non-binding letter 
of intent to acquire 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of GSF. In April 2012, FRV 
changed its name to Global SeaFarms Corporation and in May 2012, entered into a binding 
share exchange agreement with GSF for the GSF Acquisition. The resulting issuer was 
listed on the CNSX on June 1, 2012. 

As a result of the GSF Acquisition, the Issuer, through its subsidiaries, has been carrying on 
the business of GSF.  

GSF is engaged in the identification and development of high-potential aquaculture projects 
in the Americas with a focus on warm water projects in the region of the Caribbean and cold 
water projects in North America. GSF developed out of an initiative started in 2009 by the 
principals of GSF, the objective of which was to leverage a unique combination of 
aquaculture sector experience and corporate finance expertise to seek out aquaculture 
acquisition and development opportunities.  

In early 2010, the founding shareholders of GSF stepped in to support and restructure an 
aquaculture opportunity in the Dominican Republic. A U.S. based company had been 
engaged in the open-sea cage farming of Florida Pompano fish but had run into financial 
difficulties arising from, amongst other things, the effects of the financial crisis on its U.S.-
based small business owner/backers who could no longer support the development of the 
business. The operation employed approximately 20 citizens of the Dominican Republic as 
well as Canadian and European managers. The asset base of the business included a 
commercial hatchery facility on leased land next to the National Aquarium of the DR, a 
leased onshore farm site with work boats, 2 nursery cages and 6 open ocean production 
cages. The predecessor business had spent an estimated $3M to $5M USD on assets and 
working capital developing the operation. This opportunity presented GSF with a potential 
platform for the initiation of a warm water aquaculture industry strategy for the region while 
having attractive inherent scalability attributes of its own. GSF and, subsequently, its 
subsidiary CSF were created to effect the acquisition of the assets and maintain the 
continuity of the employee base and key management. In July 2010, CSF acquired all of the 
operating assets for $57,343 USD. For the months prior to that closing, the principals of 
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GSF had been covering payroll and lease payments amongst other expenses, in order to 
keep the employees and operating infrastructure together. Through 2010 and 2011, GSF 
spent approximately$1.8M on assets and working capital to develop the operation and 
initiate capital improvements of the production infrastructure. The predecessor operation did 
not have a proper environmental permit or aquaculture operating permit issued and GSF 
also embarked on a program to secure a new large-scale environmental/operating permit as 
well as to identify new potential operating sites in the Dominican Republic.  

CSF is currently engaged in fish production in the Dominican Republic in the context of an 
aggressive expansion of the operation through the deployment of expanded grow-out cage 
infrastructure and the pursuit of additional grow-out sites on the island of Hispaniola and in 
the region. In October 2011, CSF was granted an environmental permit for a 28HA/48 
production cage aquaculture operation enabling the development of a large production 
footprint. CSF is pursuing additional operating site opportunities on the island of Hispaniola 
at this time and is actively engaged in a strategy to secure similar permits in the region. GSF 
is of the view that increasing global demand for seafood and in particular, the U.S. market’s 
dependence on seafood imports for its own consumption, will create good long-term 
demand for CSF’s fish production and support the aggressive expansion plans for the 
business which includes seeking additional development opportunities in the region of the 
Caribbean and Central America. 

GSF is implementing a strategy focused on the development of warm water opportunities in 
the region of the Caribbean Sea, and cold water opportunities in Canada. GSF is currently 
engaged in discussions with prospective acquisition targets that would expand the overall 
business and provide diversification across markets, geographies and species. 

3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITION AND DISPOSITION 

See Section 3.1 above. 

3.3 KNOWN TRENDS, COMMITMENTS OR EVENTS 

Based on the Issuer’s expectations as of the date of the Listing Statement, there is no trend, 
commitment, event or uncertainties that is both presently known to management and 
reasonably expected to have a material effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition 
or results of operations, other than as described in this Listing Statement. 

4. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

4.1 GENERAL 

4.1.1 Company Overview 

GSF is engaged in the identification and development of high-potential aquaculture projects 
in the Americas. GSF has two vectors to its growth strategy - warm water opportunities in 
the region of the Caribbean Sea and cold water opportunities in North America. GSF 
developed out of an initiative started in 2009 by the principals of GSF, the objective of which 
was to leverage a unique combination of aquaculture sector experience and corporate 
finance expertise to seek out aquaculture acquisition and development opportunities.  
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In late 2009 early 2010, the principals of GSF stepped in to restructure an open-sea cage 
farming opportunity in the Dominican Republic. A predecessor operation had been engaged 
in the open-sea cage farming of Florida Pompano fish but had run into financial difficulties 
arising from, amongst other things, the effects of the financial crisis on its U.S.-based small 
business owner/backers who could no longer support the development of the business. The 
operation presented a potential platform for the initiation of a warm water aquaculture 
strategy for the region while having attractive inherent scalability attributes. GSF and 
subsequently CSF, its Dominican Republic incorporated subsidiary, were created to effect 
the transfer of the assets and maintain the continuity of the employee base and key 
management.  

GSF is currently engaged in fish production in the Dominican Republic in the context of an 
aggressive expansion of the operation through the deployment of expanded grow-out cage 
infrastructure and the pursuit of additional grow-out sites on the island of Hispaniola and in 
the region. GSF is also engaged in the evaluation of a number of cold water opportunities in 
North America. 

4.1.2 Introduction to Aquaculture 

Aquaculture is the farming of freshwater and saltwater organisms such as finfish, mollusks, 
crustaceans and aquatic plants. Aquaculture involves cultivating aquatic populations under 
controlled conditions, and can be contrasted with commercial fishing, which is the 
harvesting of wild fish. Commercial aquaculture currently supplies around one half of the 
fish and shellfish that is directly consumed by humans worldwide. 

Finfish aquaculture refers to the production of fish (as opposed to shellfish) in a controlled 
environment. This is practiced around the world, most extensively in Asia. 

 

(a. by production, b. by value) - FAO 

Common categories applied within aquaculture include the following; “warm water” or “cold 
water” depending on the species being cultured. Cold water aquaculture typically includes 
those farming activities related to more northern located species like salmon and trout, while 
warm water aquaculture refers to species like tilapia and European sea bass. Also, “marine” 
aquaculture refers to salt water species/operations, while “fresh water” to that conducted in 
lakes and rivers.  

There are various methodologies for aquaculture production, depending on the nature of the 
species being cultured and the resources and infrastructure of the production site.  

Techniques of finfish aquaculture: 
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M ethodology Description Applications Benefits /Challenges

O p en Net Cag es E nc lo s e f is h in f lo ating offs ho re
p ens whic h c an b e 75+ f eet in
d iam eter and 50+ f eed d eep,
anc ho red to o c ean f lo o r

Can b e us ed with a v ariety of
f inf is h sp ec ies , heav ily us ed fo r
s alm o n and tro ut in the A m e ric as
and E uro p e

Lo w c ap ita l co s t, eas y to s c ale,
has anim al es c ap e ris k and
req uires was te m a nag em e nt
s trateg ies

P o nd s G ene rally in-g ro und enc lo s ures
us ing f res h o r b rac k is h water

Larg ely us ed fo r s hrim p , c atf is h
and t ilap ia, p erv as iv e us e in A s ia

Lo w c o st, was te ac c um ulat io n
c halleng es , g ro und water
c o ntam inat io n is s ues

Rac eway s Natura l w ater way is d iv erted
thro ug h c o nstruc ted c hannels
enc lo s ing f is h

Ty p ic ally us ed f o r tro ut in the US Relat iv e ly lo w co s t, s o m e esc ap e
ris k , water treatm ent req uired

Rec irc ulat ing S y s tem s O n land , tank b as ed s ys tem that
treats and rec y c les water

Can b e us ed with a v ariety of
f inf is h s p ec ies; b ass , sturg eo n,
arc t ic c har

No env iro nm ental im p ac t, h ig h
c ap ita l c os t, h ig h o p erat ing co s ts
and m o re ene rg y intens iv e than
o ther m etho d o lo g ies

 

GSF is currently planning the deployment of open-cage systems for its operations. GSF is 
also evaluating new cage technologies that could provide productivity and biomass 
monitoring and management improvements.  

Some of the key attributes of aquaculture as a means of fish production include: 

Greater control of inputs – wild fish are often directly exposed to toxins and pollution in 
coastal waters, whereas  aquaculture feed inputs are designed to ensure health and 
productivity, and inventory are grown in pollution free water. 

Aquaculture is the most environmentally sustainable animal protein conversion system in 
use worldwide as compared to other forms of animal farming. 

Aquaculture is the most efficient animal farming sector, with 1 tonne of feed capable of 
producing almost 1 tonne of fish compared to 150 Kg beef, 300 Kg pork and 500 Kg 
chicken. - (Center for Environment, Fisheries & Aquaculture Science) 

In a world of increasing input costs (feed, fresh water, transport), fish becomes relatively 
less expensive to other forms of protein. 

Consistency of production – Aquaculture enables the producer to serve markets on a year 
round basis, and is a major advantage for meeting the needs of retailers and food service 
providers (versus the often seasonal nature of wild catches). 

Productivity – Intensive aquaculture techniques can generate enormous production out of 
small physical footprints. 

Sustainable – Aquaculture relieves pressure on natural stocks and can be managed on a 
sustainable basis. 

As a protein source - In a world of farmed animal protein sources afflicted by Mad Cow 
disease, bird flu and swine flu, aquaculture will benefit from any shift in protein consumption 
away from animal-based sources 
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4.1.3 Global Agri-Food 

The global agri-food sector is a multi-trillion dollar a year marketplace that effects every 
person on the planet.  

An FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the UN) report on the future of world 
agriculture reflects some of the macro drivers shaping food demand. Some of the key 
findings for the aquaculture sector are as follows:  

World agriculture 2030: 

World population will grow from around 7 billion people today to 8.3 billion people in 2030.  

The world population will be increasingly well-fed by 2030, with 3050 kilocalories (kcal) 
available per person, compared to 2360 kcal per person per day in the mid-1960s and 
2800 kcal today. This change reflects above all the rising consumption in many 
developing countries whose average will be close to 3000 kcal in 2030.  

Patterns of food consumption are becoming more similar throughout the world, shifting 
towards higher-quality and more expensive foods such as meat and dairy products. Meat 
consumption in developing countries, for example, has risen from only 10 kg per person 
annually in 1964-66 to 26 kg in 1997-99. It is projected to rise to 37 kg per person per year 
in 2030. 

With many marine stocks now fully exploited or overexploited, future fish supplies are 
likely to be constrained by resource limits. The share of capture fisheries in world 
production will continue to decline, and the contribution of aquaculture to world fish 
production will continue to grow. The capacity of the global fishing fleet should be brought 
to a level at which fish stocks can be harvested sustainably, FAO said. "Past policies have 
promoted the build-up of excess capacity and incited fishermen to increase the catch 
beyond sustainable levels."  

GSF believes that the macro global trends to greater demand for protein combined with the 
natural limitations on capture fisheries worldwide is driving burgeoning demand for 
aquaculture products as well as conditions for sustainable long-term pricing power.  

4.1.4 Industry Overview – The Era of “Peak Fish” 

Aquaculture is a very large and dynamic global industry and is also reportedly the fastest 
growing segment of the worldwide agri-food sector. The world has entered the era of “peak 
fish”; there is no more capacity in the world’s oceans to produce seafood for increasing 
worldwide consumption. As such, there is a large and growing gap between global 
consumption and the world’s natural catch fisheries. 

1. Plateau/decline in global wild-catch fisheries: 

 The worldwide natural catch fishery stagnated in the mid 1990’s and overfishing is 
affecting up to 72% of fish stocks (with some estimates that current harvests are 
2 times sustainable levels) 
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 The risk of significant decline of wild fish catch increases with each year of global 
overfishing 

2. Increasing global consumption of fish: 

 Global seafood consumption is on the rise – from an average of 22 lbs. per person 
per year in the 1960’s to 37.5 lbs. in 2008 (FAO World Aquaculture 2010) 

 Over the next decade, worldwide demand for seafood is expected to grow by as 
much as 10% annually, or an additional 11 million tons per year (FAO, 2008) 

 Some key drivers: 

 Population growth 

 Demographics in western countries (older people eat more fish) 

 Health and diet concerns (omega-3 attributes, low fat diets) 

 Growing wealth in developing countries drives greater protein consumption, with 
many cultural biases towards fish consumption 

This global supply gap in seafood is worth tens of billions of dollars a year (estimates of over 
$70B) and aquaculture is the only means of addressing it.  

4.1.5 Key issues facing global aquaculture: 

 Environmental considerations – any form of intensive agriculture can impact the 
environment: 

 In Asia, coastal aquaculture is reportedly responsible for  destruction of 
mangroves 

 Large scale waste discharge (typically the result of over-concentration of 
operations in a given area) can impact water quality and seabed  

 High fish densities can create disease and parasite issues.  

 Space (locations): The “real estate” is limited – competition for sites will steadily 
increase with time so it is  strategic to acquire site rights  – recent Offshore 
Mariculture 2010 conference identified “space” as the biggest hindrance to the 
growth of aquaculture in the Mediterranean (Seafoodsource.com – Aquaculture’s 
battle for space – 24/6/2010) 

 Fish meal and dietary implications – carnivorous fish require feed sources 
containing fish meal and fish oil ingredients. Supplying these inputs can put 
pressure on those fish (anchovy, pollock, sardines, etc.) that serve as feed supply 
stocks. These input issues are being addressed by the industry through 
improvements in feed conversion rates (FCR’s) in cultured species, as well on 
developing protein substitutes like soy and canola. 
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4.1.6 Aquaculture in the Americas 

Aquaculture in the Americas is very small compared to Asia, but it is well established and 
successful. There are a limited number of jurisdictions and locations in the Americas that 
have the physical characteristics (water quality, hydrodynamics, weather protection) and 
regulatory environment required to successfully conduct aquaculture operations:  

 Canada – Canada is still a relatively small player in terms of global production, but 
with major growth potential. Approximately a $1B industry (StatsCan 2010), it is 
primarily focused on cold water species like  salmon: 

 Canadian aquaculture production has quadrupled over the past 15 yrs, and the 
Commission for Aquaculture Development believes that future growth potential 
is 15% and could drive the industry to $2.8B by 2015 

 Canada is the 2nd largest exporter of farmed salmon to the U.S. (U.S. 
Department of Commerce) 

 U.S. – The biggest component part of aquaculture in the US is primarily pond-based 
catfish production in the southern states. Offshore open-net cage aquaculture is 
very limited as the regulations permitting the commercial use of near shore marine 
waters for floating cage aquaculture; jurisdictions are a complicated mix of federal 
and state interests. For the development of any of the activities contemplated by 
GSF, the US represents neither a jurisdiction of potential opportunity or competition. 

 “The U.S.A. is making slow progress in developing policies that could permit 
cage aquaculture in the marine environment. However, the prospect of utilizing 
public freshwater sources for cage culture in the United States of America 
appears dismal. Most United States state natural resource agencies, which 
regulate access to public water bodies, have no desire or public/political 
pressure to allow or promote cage culture in public waters.” – (FAO – Review of 
Cage Aquaculture) 

 Caribbean – Well suited to warm water species. However, coastal resources are 
typically focused on tourism first and there are consequently a limited number of top 
grade aquaculture locations (naturally protected bays with no resorts or other 
activities). This region is very close to US market, with generally good infrastructure 
and government interest in securing foreign investment.  

 Mexico and Central America – Mexico is expanding its aquaculture industry with 
most activities in pond based tilapia and shrimp.  Coastal areas of Belize, Panama, 
Costa Rica seeing early stage offshore projects.  

 South America – Chile has a large cold water species industry, and strong U.S. 
market presence, Brazil’s industry is mainly comprised of small freshwater 
production of tilapia and carp with total production estimated at less than $500M 
(FAO National Aquaculture Sector Overview – Brazil). Most production is for 
domestic consumption, and there are considerable underexploited coastal 
opportunities. 
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 Chile’s farmed exports grew from $291M in 1993 to $2.2B in 2007 (FAO – Fact 
sheet Sept 2008, Chile & Latin America) 

 The estimated average growth rate of the Chilean aquaculture industry for the 
20 years between 1984 and 2004 was 42% per year 

 Chile became the largest supplier of farmed trout and salmon to the U.S. by 
2007 

 Tilapia (warm, fresh-water species) is widely produced in Central America and 
tilapia became one of the top five consumed seafood’s in the U.S. in 2006 
(National Marine Fisheries Service) 

 Producers of fresh tilapia in Central America have seen enormous growth with 
places like Honduras driving exports to the U.S. from 771 tonnes in 1999 to 
7,250 by 2006 (a 38% CAGR) 

Most large scale aquaculture activities in the Americas are focused on cold water species 
such as salmon, while the Caribbean, Mexico and Central America are only jurisdictions 
available for the development of coastal aquaculture for warm water species. Prime 
locations for project development are a limited resource. 

4.1.7 Global’s Target Markets 

GSF’s main initial target market for its current and future development plans is the United 
States; the world’s largest seafood import market. Key highlights include: 

 U.S. consumers spend an estimated $70B annually on fishery products and is by 
volume the third largest seafood consumer in the world (behind Japan and  China) – 
(National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) 2010) 

 The U.S. is heavily dependent on foreign suppliers with over 80% of the seafood in the 
U.S. being imported (22% from China alone) – (FAO Fishstat, 2009)  

 Shifting demographics and population growth will drive growing demand for seafood in 
the U.S. over the next two decades – (U.S. Seafood Market in 2020, HM Johnson & 
Associates) 

 The U.S. market will require an additional 1.81B kg of seafood annually by 2020  

 USDA is forecasting an increase in per-capita consumption largely driven by 
changing age factors (adults 50-64 eat 35% more seafood than the national 
average, and adults over 65 eat 53% more). By 2020 more than 70 million 
Americans will be over the age of 60 

 At 38 million strong and growing, the U.S. Hispanic population consumes seafood at 
a higher rate that the U.S .population as a whole. This is generally true of Asian 
populations as well. 

 U.S. population will grow to more than 336 million by 2020 
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GSF believes that the U.S. market will steadily increase its import dependence, as wild 
catch harvests continue to plateau or further decline, and no domestic U.S. offshore 
aquaculture industry is developed. Further, GSF believes that consumer awareness of some 
Asian production issues (water quality, chemical use, etc.) has the potential to impact import 
demand from those sources as well as the inevitability that growing domestic consumption 
in that region will reduce their own export capacity (it is estimated that in 2011, China will 
shift from being a net seafood exporter to being a net importer). As such, GSF is of the view 
that aquaculture production from proximal locations like the Caribbean will see growing 
demand for production. 

In the longer term, other market development opportunities exist in addition to the U.S. 
These include: 

 Mexico – Very close to the Caribbean with a large growing population  

 Brazil –Large population, emerging wealth driving greater fish consumption, 
SalmonChile is reporting that Brazil surpassed the U.S. as the second largest consumer 
of Chilean salmon in 2010 

 EU - Large market, net importer of seafood (according to USDA Foreign Agricultural 
Service),  lots of direct air transport from DR to EU 

4.1.8 GSF’s Species Focus 

GSF believes there is enormous potential for warm water aquaculture in the Americas and 
as such is focused on the development of warm water species for culture. These tend to be 
mild-tasting, white-fleshed fish, well suited to American consumer preferences. GSF 
believes that there is greater market opportunity in these alternative species than to 
established aquaculture products like salmon and tilapia. Also, warm water species grow to 
market weight in approximately one-third the time required by a species like salmon which 
reduces working capital risk and increases cash flow. 

GSF is currently focused on the farming of the Florida pompano species (Trachinotus 
carolinus). Pompano is an excellent white-flesh fish and is recognized as amongst the finest 
table fare available and is highly prized by both sports fishing industry and food service. 
There is a small commercial fishery out of Florida (limited by annual catch quotas), and 
pompano is reported as the highest value commercial landed species in Florida (Florida 
Fish and Wildlife Commission 2006). However, the limited catch restricts adoption in food 
service as demand would easily outstrip available supply. 

Pompano is well researched as an excellent species for aquaculture: 

 “Pompano is an excellent candidate for aquaculture as it possesses a high market value 
and grows well in captivity” – (Fishery Bulletin, March 2009) 

 “Pompano is a promising new marine finfish species for aquaculture in the U.S.” – 
(USDA Southern Regional Aquaculture Center, Dec 2007) 

 “Pompano is a potential mariculture giant and is awaiting commercial development” – 
(MTI, Aquaculture America 2003) 
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Pompano has enormous market development potential as the species is highly prized but 
the lack of consistent year round supply has limited its penetration of major retail and food 
service markets such as that enjoyed by the more abundant wild-caught sea bass, grouper, 
and snapper.  

There is no significant pompano farming operation anywhere in the Americas. The GSF site 
in the Dominican Republic has demonstrated previous successful production of quality 
pompano, and GSF believes that with its oversight and growth plan it can develop a major 
production source of pompano for the U.S. market. 

GSF is also contempating a strategy for seriola. Seriola is another high quality white-fleshed 
species with outstanding feed conversion capabilities, high market demand and high price 
points.  

GSF’s warm water species focus list includes only species indigenous to the waters of the 
Caribbean and as such do not pose any non-native species environmental issues. 

GSF Species Focus List:  

Pompano 

Florida pompano is a member of 
the jack family and is a warm water 
species found from Massachusetts 
to Brazil. 

 

Fast growing fish, typically taking 7 
to 9 months from fry to a market 
weight of 1.5lbs, highest market 
value commercial fish in Florida. 

 

Amberjack (Seriola) 

Seriola is found worldwide and 
distributed in North America off the 
coasts of Florida and the 
Caribbean. 

Seriola has great potential as an 
aqucultured species with a rapid 
growth rate and worldwide 
demand for its excellent flesh 
quality (and as a sushi fish).  

 

Cobia 

Cobia is a fish which occurs 
worldwide and in the western 
Atlantic from Nova Scotia to 
Argentina.  

 

There is no significant wild catch 
Cobia fishery, but are a highly 
prized game and sushi fish. Cobia 
grow quickly reaching 6-7kg one 
year after hatching making them 
an attractive aquaculture species, 
also used in sushi 
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Red Drum 

Native to Caribbean waters 

 

Cultured in Guadeloupe for local 
consumption and export to E.U. 
markets;  

 

Mutton Snapper 

Mutton Snapper inhabit the warm 
waters of the western Atlantic most 
abundantly around southern 
Florida and the Bahamas. 

 

Domestic harvests of snapper in 
the U.S. are inadequate to meet 
market demand and this species 
has excellent potential as a 
cultivated product. Mutton snapper 
is often marketed as the red 
snapper. 

 

Yellowtail Snapper 

Distributed through the western 
Atlantic, most commonly through 
the Caribbean and south Florida 

 

Enormously popular sports fish, 
highly prized as a top delicacy in 
Southern United States 

 

 

GSF is also engaged in evaluating opportunities in what it considers high value cold water 
species in North America including trout, steelhead, sablefish and Arctic char. 

4.1.9 The Market Opportunity  

The market for white fleshed fish in the U.S. is estimated to be in the billions of dollars. GSF 
is targeting segments at the higher end of this market (where there is little in the way of 
farmed product competitors). GSF believes that the market opportunity for all the focus 
species is in the tens to hundreds of millions each as there are many food service and retail 
channels looking for consistent year round supply of higher end product. 

Mediterranean Aquaculture: A model for the Caribbean Sea 

The warm water success of Mediterranean aquaculture with the pompano-like sea bass/sea 
bream species shows the potential to build billions of dollars in market for farmed production 
of warm water white flesh fish. By 2007, Mediterranean finfish production had reached 
436,401 tonnes of annual production with Greece, Turkey and Spain leading the 
development. European sea bass production alone reached over $1B USD in 2007 (FAO). 
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Source: General Fisheries Commission for the Mediterranean – April 2010 

White fleshed species are very highly prized, consumption of which is typically restricted by 
limited commercial fishing (e.g. Pacific halibut is a multi- $100M market that has had quotas 
cut from around 70M lbs. in 2005 to 41M lbs. in 2010 – a 40% reduction, with round weight 
prices ranging from $14.50-$15.50/lb. – tradexfoods reports). 

Chilean Sea Bass is another example of higher end white fish that has seen its market 
contract, not out of demand softening but out of supply restrictions. In 2000 the U.S. 
Department of Commerce estimated that the legal harvest of Chilean Sea Bass had 
reached 16,000 tons, with the illegal catch up to two times that amount. Currently the U.S. 
limits imports to the U.S. market to 10,000 tons per year (U.S. Department of Commerce) 
and most seafood watch groups have the species on Avoid or do not consume lists due to 
pressures on the wild population. 

Farmed production allows for consistent year round production which is key to servicing 
major food service and retail channels and brings pricing power to the producer. 

Other examples of U.S.-based markets carved out for farmed mild tasting whitefish include: 

 Farmed tilapia has become one of the top 5 seafoods consumed in the U.S., first 
tracked starting in 1993 to a $800M import market by 2010 – (U.S. Commerce 
Department) 

 Pangasius (Vietnamese farmed catfish), U.S. started importing in 2001 and in has 
grown to a $250M+ import market by 2010. 

GSF’s management believes that the market positioning potential for pompano is 
tremendous. It not only has a very small wild catch commercial fishery, there are no other 
farming operations of any size to compete with: 

 “Grow out facilities for farming of Pompano do not exist anywhere to our knowledge” – 
(Mariculture Technologies International 2003) 
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 “It can be concluded that a pompano farm can be created in any tropical to subtropical 
zone except the U.S.” – (Aquaculture America 2003) 

According to the Southern Regional Aquaculture Centre (Florida 2007), Pompano typically 
command the highest dockside price of all marine food fish species in Florida (home of the 
wild catch commercial fishery. Market data on Florida Pompano is scarce given the small 
seasonal commercial catch. Some historic data indicates that even in 2005, wholesale 
prices for Pompano in the market size that GSF is aiming at, were in the range of $4.95/lb. 
(Species Profile – Florida Pompano – Southern Regional Aquaculture Center, Dec 2007)  

GSF is of the view that the ability to provide consistent year round production at the target 
market size of around 1.5 lbs., represents outstanding market positioning potential. 

4.1.10 GSF’s Operations 

GSF's warm water operations are currently conducted through its DR subsidiary Caribbean 
Sea Farms, SRL. CSF has a fully integrated production platform encompassing both a 
hatchery operation and grow-out site (see sections below).  

The Dominican Republic: 

 

 Location – Central Caribbean, approximately 900 miles from Miami, Florida 

 Population – approximately 10M 

 Economy – GDP of USD$93.4B, $9,300 per capita 

 Government – Democratic republic  

 Language – Spanish 

 Legal system – Civil code 

 Currency – Dominican Peso (40:1 USD$) 

The Dominican Republic is a member of the World Trade Organization (WTO) and has a 
Free Trade Agreement with Central America and the DR-CAFTA which includes the United 
States. Domestic and foreign corporations are subject to an annual tax rate of 25% on net 
income derived from Dominican sources. Currently the Dominican Republic has a tax treaty 
with Canada to avoid double taxation implications. 
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The typical aquaculture production cycle is described as follows: 

 

The hatchery begins the cycle with the production of fingerlings from eggs. Eggs can be 
sourced from third-party suppliers or from proprietary brood stocks (the producer’s own 
breeding stock). Eggs are hatched and fingerlings or juvenile fish reared for transference to 
the grow-out operation. In the context of GSF’s focus species, this phase is typically 45 
days. 

During the grow-out step, juvenile fish are raised to market size. In the case of CSF, this 
involves the use of the sea cage system for corralling the inventory. Feed is administered 
from boat feeding systems on a daily basis and stock health and growth factors tracked and 
constantly monitored. Pompano typically takes 7 to 9 months in the grow-out phase to reach 
a harvest weight of around 700 grams (1.5lbs). 

Processing and distribution is the final step in the operation. Once market weight is 
achieved, fish are harvested and then transported to a primary processing facility. 
Processing activities can range from icing and transporting whole, to basic gutting and 
packaging to filleting and higher value-added processing. Fish product can be shipped fresh 
or flash frozen for entry into distribution channels. CSF is currently in the process of adding 
processing capabilities and will initially be focused on the production of fresh-gutted product, 
best suited to the target markets in the U.S. 

The key challenges for any farming operation are variability in input prices, weather factors 
and animal husbandry practices. These issues are addressed in the “Risks and Risk 
Management” section below. 

4.1.11 Hatchery 

GSF has a commercial grade hatchery located on leased property located at the site of the 
National Aquarium in Santo Domingo. The hatchery serves as the entry point of the 
production cycle. Eggs from outside sources (or prospectively from CSF’s own broodstock) 
are hatched and grown from larval to fingerling stage. There is adequate expansion room at 
the current hatchery site to expand capacity to meet CSF’s production requirements and 
CSF is considering additional sites to locate hatchery operations closer to its grow-out site. 
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4.1.12 Hatchery Production Process (for Pompano) 

 Current pompano brood stock kept in one 20 ft diameter 
outside tank. 

 Fish spawn year-round approximately 36 h after hormonal 
implantation (GnRHa). 

 System set up with 10 flow-through 100 L incubators 
capable of holding 50 thousand eggs/each, 3 intermediate 
2,000 L larval rearing tanks and 8 x 8,000 L production 
tanks (see schematic for details). 

 Hatchery stocking capacity = 200,000 juveniles/cycle. 

 Egg phase = about 24 h in water at 24-29oC before 
hatching. Yolk-sac stage lasts 2 days prior to first feeding 
(see feeding regime below).

         0          3          6          9          12          15          18          21          24

     Enriched rotifers

Artemia nauplii

Enriched Artemia 

Microfeeds

Green water

Age (d)  

 Fully weaned within 18 days post-hatch. 

 33% average survival from egg to graded juveniles. 

 Fingerlings weighting 2-3 g are shipped to grow-out site 
after 45 days at the hatchery. 

 Juveniles stay in nursery net pens up to 70 g, and then they are transferred to larger 
grow-out pens (25 m diameter). 

BROODSTOCK 

HATCHERY 

START FEEDING 

WEANING 

NURSERY STAGE 
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4.1.13 The GSF facility layout:  
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4.1.14 Farm 

CSF’s farm operation is located in the Salinas area of south west Dominican Republic, on 
Calderas Bay. The operation is comprised of the following infrastructure: 

 

 A leased three-bedroom house with working dock and feed storage shed 

 2 nursery pens and 6 grow-out production cages (25M diameter) 

 Forty-foot work boat with crane, feed boat with half-ton feed blower  

 

The permitted grow-out site in the bay has expansion capacity to at least 48 cages. 
Servicing the site from the shore location takes approximately 20 minutes travel time by 
work boat (approximately 4kms). 

Each production cage has an estimated capacity to produce 70,000 pounds of pompano 
biomass (round weight) per production cycle of 7-9 months. The target market weight is 
700 grams or 1.5 lbs. This production target is based on an initial stocking of 60,000 fish 
and net harvest of approximately 51,000 fish (net of standard course mortalities and related 
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losses). Pompano produce a net dressed yield of about 95%.Filleting yield is estimated at 
approximately 60% to a skin-on fillet.  

 

Grow-out site development plan schematic 

4.1.15 Processing & Distribution 

CSF has basic processing capabilities in the Dominican Republic located in Salinas. A 
HACCP plan is being prepared for the facility which will enable CSF to export gutted fish to 
the US. Initial processing will entail only gutting, cleaning and packing for air shipment from 
Santo Domingo. Production will be sent head-on, fresh, to distribution channels in the U.S. 

Basic infrastructure requirements include: 

 Equipment – stainless steel cleaning tables and sinks, ice making machines; and 

 Cold storage – short term inventory storage upon harvest reception and prior to 
shipment. 
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The fish will be transported in wax-lined cardboard containers with gel-pack cooling. These 
loads are air freight shipped out of Santo Domingo where there is a choice of shippers with 
many flights every day to the U.S., particularly Miami.   

Labor is plentiful in the region and is charged out at the equivalent of around $300-$450 
USD per month. We estimate that based on a very modest productivity rate of twenty-five 
50lb boxes per day per worker, our initial employment requirements would total 10 
production workers. 

CSF will also be required to file a HACCP (Hazardous Analysis Critical Control Point) plan 
with the FDA in the U.S. The FDA regulates seafood in the U.S. HACCP plans are used to 
identify potential food safety hazards and to outline the actions being used to reduce or 
eliminate such risks. This is a standard operating procedure for any business exporting to 
the U.S. and within GSF’s experience and should be completed in the first half of 2013.    

4.1.16 GSF’s Revenue/Distribution Model  

GSF will generate revenues from direct sales of fish to seafood markets primarily in North 
America and the United States in particular. These markets will initially be reached through 
brokers and distributors who will sell GSF’s production on a commission structure basis 
(typically 3 to 6% of value). There are numerous potential broker partners throughout the 
eastern seaboard of the US, from Miami to Boston. GSF does not have an exclusive 
relationship with any channel partner at this time, but has initiated discussions with 
importers with both retail and food service interest in GSF’s production. Using this 
“outsourcing” strategy of employing seafood brokers constitutes the first phase of GSF’s 
long term distribution strategy. It is GSF’s intention to ultimately develop its own brand and 
value-added processing capabilities (such as flash freezing, filleting, etc.). This would 
position GSF to develop direct relationships with retailers and food service providers and 
typically drive much higher price points in the market. GSF’s market surveys of pricing for 
comparable premium white-fleshed fish like Chilean Sea Bass indicate wholesale price 
points of around $10.00 per pound (round weight, FOB Miami). GSF is positioning its Florida 
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Pompano production in the premium end of the market, with the additional attribute of being 
able to deliver throughout the year. 

Seasonality and Cyclicality 

Fish consumption from farmed sources is not subject to seasonal or cyclical factors like that 
of conventional wild harvest fish supplies. Consistent year round production is a key 
attribute of aquaculture in the supply of fish products. 

4.1.17 GSF’s Growth Strategy 

GSF has a two-pronged growth strategy, developing warm water opportunities in the region 
of the Caribbean Sea and cold water opportunities in North America. Underlying this 
strategy is an investment thesis that reflects the following views: 

 The Caribbean and Central American areas represent the best warm water aquaculture 
jurisdictions close to the major markets in North and South America; 

 Demand for farmed finfish species will grow steadily based on: 

 Increasing overall global and regional demand for seafood and new protein sources; 

 Population growth and per capita increases in seafood consumption in the Americas 
driven by healthy dietary changes and demographics; 

 Plateau/decline in natural catch fisheries; 

 Significant market room for premium farmed white fish; and  

 Seafood scarcity catalysts such as the Gulf of Mexico oil disaster, Japanese 
earthquake; 

 There are a limited number of quality aquaculture locations in the Caribbean and Central 
America and their value will increase over time; 

 An aggressive and properly funded initiative to develop and acquire projects in this 
region (“land grab”) can create enormous value by capitalizing on this opportunity in a 
timely manner; and 

 There is excellent market potential for other “non-salmon” cold water species in North 
America – trout, steelhead, arctic char, and sablefish. 

GSF is focused on developing a transportable operating “package” that is designed to be 
attractive to potential expansion jurisdictions while optimizing the overall operating 
economics of the GSF platform. This includes: 

 Developing employee skills training programs in Spanish and French – initiatives 
favoured by governments in the targeted jurisdictions 

 Ability to bring additional value-added processing and investment – again favoured by 
potential host jurisdictions; 
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 Focusing on the same species and operating procedures – building operating leverage, 
market dominance and deep domain knowledge; and 

 Addressing environmental sensitivities proactively (by focusing on low-impact species 
indigenous to region) – An approach that provides comfort for host jurisdictions of 
reduced environmental risk.  

GSF’s immediate growth vectors include: 

1. Expansion of the existing CSF operation in Salinas, Dominican Republic: 

 Implementing plan to grow from 6 production cages to 48 at the existing site at Salinas. 

 

2. Secure additional operating sites in the Dominican Republic:  

 GSF is evaluating additional potential site locations in the Salinas, Samana and 
Pedernales regions of the DR.  

 

3. Regional development opportunities 

GSF is uniquely positioned to identify and execute on project development opportunities in 
the Caribbean region by leveraging its presence and expertise. These opportunities include:  

 GSF has identified an offshore development opportunity at the Haitian border area in the 
immediate proximity of another targeted development site at Pedernales, Dominican 
Republic; 

 GSF has also identified, and in some cases investigated and had discussions with 
officials in the following jurisdictions of interest: 

 Bahamas  

 The Antilles – Dominica, St. Kitts, St. Vincent 

 

4. Acquisition of complementary small scale operators in the region: 

Global intends to build on its core sector expertise and corporate finance resources to 
pursue a consolidation/acquisition strategy with the following objectives: 

 Target small players in region with scalable potential but little to no access to capital; 
and; 

 Develop greater overall critical mass and add economies of scale with suppliers and 
customers.  
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5. Cold water opportunities: 

GSF is also actively engaged in seeking out and identifying development opportunities in 
Canada, focusing on non-salmon alternative species. The salmon sector is dominated by 
large multi-nationals and GSF believes that there are emerging growth opportunities in 
niche species with excellent growth potential for export to the US and internationally. GSF is 
in active discussions with a number of prospective acquisition/investment opportunities in 
this region. 

4.1.18 Competitive Conditions/Competition 

Overall, GSF will be competing with all forms of finfish supply, which is a global and 
competitive market. However, GSF is targeting specific niches in the finfish market that 
being primarily higher end, higher value species. Further, there is no farmed product 
competitors in GSF’s in targeted niches. The ability for GSF to differentiate itself with 
consistent year-round production of fresh product is an enormous competitive advantage. 
Aside from the lower-end species like tilapia and pangasius, most white fleshed fish 
consumed in the US is from natural catch sources domestically or imported. There are no 
significant farmed sources of pompano or like species (sea bass, etc) in the Americas that 
would compete with our production. 

4.1.19 GSF’s Competitive Strengths 

GSF’s ability to compete effectively is based on a number of factors including, but not 
limited to, the following: 

 GSF’s operations are in low cost jurisdictions driving very high margin potential; 

 Operations are close to target market and major seafood import port (Miami 2 hrs away 
by air freight); 

 GSF is focused on highly prized differentiated species that do not compete against other 
major farmed product like salmon or tilapia or catfish; and  

 GSF’s administration is comprised of very experienced industry professionals that are 
unique to an early stage operation like GSF.  

Low cost operating platform  

 Labour rates in the region are very low compared to North America. Average employee 
wage rates $300-450 per month.  

 Proximity to US makes air freight rates much less than other fresh import sources. 

Focus on high value, differentiated species with strong market potential  

 Management believes that all the target species, particularly pompano, represent very 
high margin potential; and 



  

  28 
 

 
 

 
 

 The lack of competitive farmed white flesh alternatives will position GSF’s year round 
fresh production capabilities very attractively in the market.  

Proximity to major target markets 

 The Caribbean and Central America are all close to major import markets contemplated 
by the company; and 

 Air freight capabilities appear adequate throughout the region and the DR has multiple 
options for delivery to the US. 

Focused on favourable jurisdictions 

 GSF is focused on jurisdictions where employment, foreign investment and export 
potential are compelling factors in encouraging development of aquaculture activities. 

World class sector expertise 

 GSF believes it has the ability to identify high potential assets/projects and implement 
development strategies that will directly contribute to growth and value creation for 
Global. 

Corporate finance, M&A and capital markets experience and expertise  

 GSF’s industry specific experience is complemented by extensive corporate finance and 
M&A expertise. These capabilities directly support the aggressive growth and asset 
consolidation strategy envisioned for the business. Access to capital and an appetite for 
deal making will be very distinctive in this sector and provide GSF a unique competitive 
advantage in seeking out and securing assets for the company. 

4.1.20 Supply Chain Management 

GSF relies on a number of resources that must be procured from outside the Dominican 
Republic. Some of the key inputs in support of the business plan include: 

 Eggs – GSF has a pompano egg supply agreement with a U.S. supplier which GSF 
believes will meet all the production requirements for the hatchery;  

 Feed - Feed is available from a number of sources in Canada, U.S. and South America. 
GSF is currently purchasing feed from a major multi-national producer out of Florida and 
from a source out of Ecuador; and 

 Production equipment – Grow-out cage infrastructure is widely available out of Canada, 
Chile and China.  

GSF does not see any problems securing any of its key inputs and there are established 
supplier relationships in place for all these key inputs. 
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4.1.21 Aquaculture Regulation and Licensing 

Aquaculture activities are regulated in most jurisdictions around the world. Activities 
involving the farming of fish in coastal waters generally are screened for environmental 
impact and effect on other fish species. 

The following is a brief description of the principal regulations that apply to GSF (or CSF) in 
the jurisdictions in which it currently conducts its activities. 

Dominican Republic 

Aquaculture activities are relatively new in the DR and the regulatory framework is not 
particularly refined. CSF’s activities in the DR are regulated in the following framework:  

The environmental management, operation and enjoyment of the marine coastal area are under the 
supervision of the Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources. Marine resources are subject to 
the provisions of the Dominican Council of Fisheries and Aquaculture (CODOPESCA). In this 
context, the most important laws include: the General Law of Environment and Natural Resources 
(64 -00), The Fisheries Act and Aquaculture (307-04), the Law Protected Ares Sector (202-04), 
Convention on the Traffic Flora and Fauna in Endangered Species (CITES) and Convention on 
Biological Diversity. 

4.1.22 Global’s Regulatory Status and Strategy 

CSF has both an environmental license and aquaculture permit for its site in Salinas. The 
environmental license was granted in October 2011. This site license covers an area of 
approximately 28 hectares and allows CSF to deploy up to 48 production cages on the site. 
This license is valid for 5 years at which time it will be renewed provided GSF is in 
compliance with all applicable regulations. The aquaculture operating permit is renewed 
annually provided CSF remains in compliance with its environmental guidelines. CSF is 
obliged to provide the government of the DR with environmental updates every six months. 

CSF’s environmental permit allows it to farm the species previously identified. 

CSF also has a second environmental license application submitted in October 2011 for an 
offshore area in the region of the city of Pedernales on the South West coast of the DR near 
the border with Haiti. 

4.1.23 Facilities 

CSF and GSF maintain the following leases for its primary operating locations: 

 Farm lease – two-year registered lease signed on June 1st, 2010 at equivalent of $1,200 
USD per month, renewable for additional 2 years with a 5% increase. 

 Hatchery lease –Santo Domingo, equivalent of $3,500 USD per month, signed on May 
27, 2010 for 2 years, renewable for additional 2 years. 

 DR office lease – Santo Domingo, $1,000 per month 

 Montreal office lease – Montreal, Qc, $1,000 per month on a month to month basis. 
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4.1.24 Employees  

CSF has 18 full-time employees and four full time consultants (in management and 
administration in the DR).  

Hatchery - 5 

Farm - 12 

Management/Administration - 5 

There is an active international market for the skilled positions in aquaculture operations 
(general speaking those being farm managers and hatchery managers). Advertisements for 
openings are typically met with hundreds of responses and as such indicate a fairly good 
pool of candidates for any replacements or new positions that are created. 

4.1.25 Environmental Management & Sustainability 

GSF is committed to meet and exceed any environmental standards in any jurisdiction it 
operates. GSF’s core premise is to focus on species that are indigenous to the waters in 
which it operates, as well as ensure that the environmental impact of its business does no 
damage to the natural ecosystems. This includes: 

 Regular testing and government submissions; and 

 Maintaining veterinary resources available to the company that are both experienced 
and knowledgeable of the species involved. 

GSF’s views on environmental sustainability include, but are not limited to: 

 Using a fish native to the waters in which GSF operates; 

 Focus on species where farmed product can supplement or replace wild product; and 

 Employing high quality feed from established market sources to ensure high animal 
health and performance. 

 

4.1.26  Business Objectives & Milestones 

The primary business objectives in the forthcoming 12-month period include: 

 Expansion of fish production capabilities in the DR; and 

 Securing additional production sites in the DR and the Caribbean region. 

The key milestones that must be accomplished to support meeting the business objectives 
are: 

Milestone Expected Time Period Estimated Cost 
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Production cage infrastructure of 
up to 18 additional 25m cages and 
supporting equipment 

First additional expansion 
cages expected to be added in 
Q2-Q3 2013 

Up to $630,000 

Secure rights to additional 
aquaculture concessions in the DR 
or other Caribbean jurisdiction 

Applications will be pursued 
throughout 2013, with the 
expectation of at least one 
preliminary approval in the 
second half of 2013 

$70,000 in travel and 
consulting fees 

   
 

The expansion plans of the company are directly scalable to available capital and the 
company will need to continue to raise capital as required and as growth opportunities 
present themselves. 

5. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

The transaction between the Issuer and GSF has not been effected as of the date of this 
Listing Statement and as such there are separate financial statements to date. Accordingly, 
the financial section presentation is shown in two parts. 

5.1 ANNUAL INFORMATION  

The selected financial information for the Corporation for the periods ending December 31, 
2012, December 31 2011 and December 31, 2010: 

($) CAD 2012 2011 2010 
Total revenues 222,206 17,620 0 
Income from continuing 
operations 

(2,032,512) (1,209,158) (626,961) 

Net Income (3,019,176) (1,174,665) (626,961) 
Total Assets 851,239 355,038 369,799 
Total long-term financial 
liabilities 

1,364,132 660,516 0 

Dividends 0 0 0 
Other 0 0 0 

 

5.2 QUARTERLY INFORMATION   

The selected financial information for the Corporation for the two quarters ending December 
31, 2012 (since completion of the RTO and listing on the CNSX on June 1, 2012): 

$ CAD December 
31, 2012 

Sept 30, 
2012 

Total 
revenues 

117,490 50,016 

Income 
from 
continuing 
operations 

(706,004) (597,255) 

Net Income (768,588) (649,217) 
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Total 
Assets 

851,239 880,372 

Total long-
term 
financial  
liabilities 

1,364,132 1,345,661 

Dividends 0 0 
Other 0 0 
 

 

5.3 DIVIDENDS 

a) Subject to the restrictions set forth in the CBCA, there are no restrictions on the 
ability of the resulting issuer to pay dividends. 

b) There are no dividend policies in place for GSF at the time of this Listing Statement. 

5.4 APPLICABLE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

The selected consolidated financial information contained in this Section has been prepared 
in accordance with IFRS standards. 

6. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Please refer to Appendix A and B for a copy of the Annual MD&A and Interim MD&A of the 
Issuer. 

7. MARKET FOR SECURITIES 

Until April 3, 2012, the Class A Shares of the Issuer were listed on the NEX of the TSX-V 
under the symbol “FRV.H”. In the context of the GSF Acquisition, the shareholders of the 
Issuer have approved the delisting of the Issuer’s Class A Shares from the TSX-V which 
became effective on April 3, 2012. The shares were subsequently listed for trading on the 
CNSX on June 1, 2012 as Global SeaFarms Corporation under the symbol “GSF”. 

8. CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

8.1 MATERIAL CHANGE IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE ISSUER 

NA 

9. OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

 

Name Position Number of 
Options 

Exercise Price Expiry Date 

William Robertson Director 1,400,000 $0.20 December 7, 
2015 

Daniel Stechey Director 1,400,000 $0.20 December 7, 
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2015 
Cameron McDonald CEO & director 700,000 $0.20 December 7, 

2015 
Robert Boisjoli CFO & director 700,000 $0.20 December 7, 

2015 
Mark Pemberton Consultant 700,000  $0.20 December 7, 

2015 
Jean Gagnon Consultant 700,000 $0.20 December 7, 

2015 
Richard Leclerc Consultant 700,000 $0.20 December 7, 

2015 
Jean-Yves Bourgeois Consultant 700,000 $0.20 December 7, 

2015 

 

10. DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES  

10.1 GENERAL 

The authorized share capital of the Issuer consists of an unlimited number of Class A 
Shares, all without par value. As of the date hereof, a total of 75,863,774 Class A Shares 
are issued and outstanding. 

The holders of Class A Shares are entitled to receive dividends out of the assets of the 
Corporation legally available therefore at such times and in such amounts as the Board of 
Directors of the Corporation may determine. The holders of Class A Shares are entitled to 
receive notice of any shareholders’ meeting of the Corporation and to attend and vote 
thereat on all matters to be voted on by the shareholders of the Corporation, except at a 
meeting where only the holders of shares of a different class are entitled to vote separately. 
At each such meeting, the holders of Class A Shares are entitled to one vote for each share 
held. Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation, the holders of Class 
A Shares are entitled to participate equally in the remaining property and assets of the 
Corporation available for distribution. 

10.2 DEBT SECURITIES 

N/A 

10.3 OTHER SECURITIES 

N/A 

10.4 MODIFICATION OF TERMS 

N/A 

10.5 OTHER ATTRIBUTES 

N/A 



  

  34 
 

 
 

 
 

10.6 PRIOR SALES 

N/A 

10.7 STOCK EXCHANGE PRICE 

In September, 2009, the shares of FRV Media Inc. were transitioned from the TSX Venture 
Exchange to the NEX. They were subsequently halted for trading in November 2011 and 
de-listed from the NEX in May 2012 and re-listed as Global SeaFarms Corporation on the 
CNSX on June 1, 2012. 

Month Volume traded High Low 
January 2012 - - - 
February 2012 - - - 
March 2012 - - - 
April 2012 - - - 
May 2012 - - - 
June 2012 10,500 .20 .17 
July 2012 540 .17 .17 
August 2012 9,000 .22 .22 
September 2012 10,050 .18 .18 
October 2012 15,080 .18 .17 
November 2012 - - - 
December 2012 31,150 .17 .16 
    

 

11. ESCROWED SECURITIES 

11.1 NUMBER AND CLASS OF ESCROWED SECURITIES 

The following Class A Shares are held in escrow as at the date of this Listing Statement by 
Computershare Investor Services Inc. pursuant to the terms of an escrow agreement with 
the Issuer dated May 17, 2012 (the “Escrow Agreement”): 

Name of Shareholder Number of Class A 
Shares held in Escrow 

Percentage of Class 

 
4381874 Canada Inc. 
 

 
24,051,440 

 
31.7% 

 

Société en Commandite BENT 
 

9,701,649 12.8% 

BCR Management Inc. 
 

7,497,000 9.9% 

Jean Gagnon 
 

1,971,711 2.6% 

 

These escrowed Class A Shares are released in accordance with the following schedule:
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On the listing date (June 1, 2012) 1/10 of the original number of escrowed securities 
6 months after listing date 1/6 of remaining escrowed securities 
12 months after listing date 1/5 of remaining escrowed securities 
18 months after listing date 1/4 of remaining escrowed securities 
24 months after listing date 1/3 of remaining escrowed securities 
30 months after listing date 1/2 of remaining escrowed securities 
36 months after listing date all remaining escrowed securities 
 

The Issuer’s transfer agent, Computershare Investor Services Inc., is acting as escrow 
agent under the Escrow Agreement. 

12. PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS  

12.1 LIST OF PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

The principal shareholders of the Issuer are as follows: 

Name of Shareholder Number of Class A 
Shares 

Percentage of 
Class 

4381874 Canada Inc. 
 
 

32,331,420 
 

42.6% 
 

Société en Commandite BENT 
 
 

12,940,709 17.1% 

BCR Management Inc. 
 
 

10,000,000 14.2% 

 

Summary of beneficial owners: 

4381874 Canada Inc. – 50% W. Cameron McDonald and 50% Fiducie Melexy 

BENT – The beneficial owner of 100% of the interest in BENT is a family trust  

BCR Management Inc. – 50% Daniel Stechey and 50% William Robertson 

13. DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

13.1 W. CAMERON MCDONALD – DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Mr. McDonald has been in the venture finance and corporate finance industry for over 18 
years. This experience extends from commercial credit account management to investment 
banking with participation in over $500M of public growth equity offerings on three difference 
stock exchanges, as well as extensive valuation, due diligence and M&A experience. Mr. 
McDonald has been the full time CEO since the inception of GSF in 2010, and prior to that 
was an investment banker with Canaccord Adams since 2002.Mr. McDonald has also acted 
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VP finance and CFO for a junior capital markets issuer through its initial public listing and 
early private placements.  

13.2 ROBERT BOISJOLI – DIRECTOR AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

Mr. Boisjoli is an accounting and corporate finance professional (FCA) with over 25 years of 
operational and advisory experience. Mr. Boisjoli provides CFO services on a part-time 
basis and is also a managing director of Atwater Financial Group, a company specializing in 
mergers and acquisitions, and a partner at Robert Boisjoli & Associates S.E.C., a consulting 
firm specializing mainly in business valuations. Robert has been the founder of two life 
science companies where he has acted as both Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating 
Officer. Mr. Boisjoli sits on the boards of directors of various public companies where is he is 
also the audit committee chairman.. He was also an investment banker with various 
Canadian securities' firms. Mr. Boisjoli also is a Board Member of various not-for-profit 
organizations in the community and within the profession. 

13.3 WILLIAM (BILL) ROBERTSON – DIRECTOR  

Mr. Robertson is a Certified Management Consultant (CMC) and a Project Management 
Professional (PMP), with over 25 yrs as an operating executive in the aquaculture industry.  
Mr. Robertson currently provides COO services on a part-time basis. For 18 years, he was a 
Senior Manager for Connors Bros. Limited and Heritage Salmon Limited, both wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of George Weston Ltd; a publicly traded multinational food conglomerate based 
in Toronto, Ontario.  Mr. Robertson oversaw production and processing facilities and was 
responsible for labour force accountabilities for more than 500 seafood production staff in 
Canada and the north eastern USA. 

Mr. Robertson has served as the Executive Director and CEO of the Huntsman Marine 
Science Centre, a marine biology research and teaching facility, since 2005.  

13.4 DANIEL STECHEY – DIRECTOR  

Since 1996, Mr. Stechey has been the president of Canadian Aquaculture Systems Inc., a 
full-service consulting agency providing strategic advice for private ventures and 
governments in the field of aquaculture.  He also served as the first Director of Aquaculture 
Policy for Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO), where he was responsible for the 
development and delivery of policies, programs and services to facilitate the sustainable 
expansion of commercial aquaculture in Canada.  Mr. Stechey was the principal architect of 
the Federal Aquaculture Development Strategy.  

Mr. Stechey is the author/co-author of more than two dozen publications, one textbook 
chapter and more than 200 technical, economic, policy and design reports.  The latter 
encompass all aspects of aquaculture design, development and management. 

13.5 RENE GUIMOND, CGA - DIRECTOR 

Mr. René Guimond, CGA, is a founding partner with the accounting firm Guimond Lavallée 
Inc. Mr. Guimond has over 30 years of experience in providing accounting and management 
consulting services to public and private companies. At Guimond Lavallée, Mr. Guimond is 
the partner in charge of advisory services for publicly traded companies. Since 2009, Mr. 
Guimond has been on the board of directors of Squatex Resources and Energy Inc.  
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13.6 MAYCO QUIROZ - DIRECTOR 

Mr. Quiroz is currently the CFO for IOU Financial an Internet based lending platform serving 
small business in the United States.   Mr. Quiroz has also served as Vice President of 
Finance for IOU Canada since May 2007. Previously, Mr. Quiroz held leadership roles 
within the finance and accounting departments of L'Oreal, Fido Solutions, and Harris 
Corporation. Mr. Quiroz is certified as a Management Accountant by the Order of 
Management Accountants of Quebec and Canada. Prior to completing his post-graduate 
designation, Mr. Quiroz completed a Bachelor of Commerce, major in Accounting, at 
Concordia University. 
 

Name, Municipality and 
Country of Residence 

Age Director Since Last 
Position 

Held 

Principal 
Occupation 

Number of Class A 
Shares Over Which 

Control is 
Exercised 

W. Cameron McDonald(1) 

Montreal,  
QC, Canada 

46 March 1, 2010 N/A Chief Executive 
Officer, Global 
SeaFarms 

32,331,420 

William Robertson* 

St. Andrews,  
NB, Canada 

53 March 2, 2010 N/A Principal, 
ReThink Inc. 

10,000,000 

Robert Boisjoli, FCA** (2) 

Montreal,  
QC, Canada 

54 March 2, 2012 N/A CFO, Global 
SeaFarms 

12,940,709 

Daniel Stechey* 

Cobourg, 
ON, Canada 

54 March 2, 2010 N/A President, 
Canadian 
Aquaculture 
Systems Inc. 

10,000,000 

Rene Guimond (1) (2) 

Sorel-Tracy 

QC, Canada 

59 May 17, 2012 N/A Partner, 
Guimond 
Lavallée 

0 

Mayco Quiroz (1) (2) 

Montreal,  
QC, Canada 

 

36 May 29, 2012 N/A CFO, IOU 
Financial Inc. 

0 

* Bill Robertson and Dan Stechey each hold 50% of BCR Management Inc. which owns 10,000,000 shares 
** Robert Boisjoli is an administrator of the manager for Fiducie BENT 
1. Audit committee member 
2. Compensation committee member 
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None of the proposed directors is, as at the date of this Listing Statement, or has been, within 10 
years before the date of the Listing Statement, a director or officer of any company that, (i) while 
that person was acting in that capacity, was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a 
cease trade order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under 
securities legislation that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; (ii) was 
subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation that was in effect for a 
period of more than 30 consecutive days, that was issued after the proposed director ceased to be 
a director or officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting as 
director or officer, other than: 

(i) Mr. Robert Boisjoli who was a director of Mitec Telecom Inc. when the company was subject to a 
cease trade order from September 15, 2010 to October 2, 2010 for the failure to file its financial 
statements within the prescribed time; and 

None of the proposed directors is, as of the date of this Listing Statement or has been within 10 
years before the date of this Listing Statement, a director or an officer of a company that while that 
person was acting in that capacity or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, 
became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 
was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a 
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets other than: 

(i) Mr. Robert Boisjoli who was Director of Mistral Pharma Inc. which filed in June 2008 a proposal 
under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) which was approved by its creditors and 
sanctioned by the Superior Court of Quebec in September 2008, and Mr. Boisjoli also was required 
to pay a $5,000 late filing fee on an insider report.  

In addition, none of the proposed directors has, within the 10 years before the date of this circular, 
become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or 
become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had 
a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of such proposed director. 

14. CAPITALIZATION 

14.1 CAPITALIZATION OF THE ISSUER 

Prepare and file the following chart for each class of securities to be listed:  

Issued Capital Number of 
Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-
diluted) 

%of Issued 
(non-
diluted) 

% of Issued (fully 
diluted) 

Public Float 75,863,774 98,341,237 100 100 
Total outstanding (A)      
     
Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or 
Related Person of the Issuer, or 
by persons or companies who 
beneficially own or control, 
directly or indirectly, more than a 
5% voting position in the Issuer 

61,341,116 75,526,011 81.1% 76.8% 
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(or who would beneficially own 
or control, directly or indirectly, 
more than a 5% voting position 
in the Issuer upon exercise or 
conversion of other securities 
held) (B) 
 14,522,658 

 

22,815,226 19.2% 23.2% 

Total Public Float (A-B)     
     

Freely-Tradeable Float 

 

    

Number of outstanding 
securities subject to resale 
restrictions, including restrictions 
imposed by pooling or other 
arrangements or in a 
shareholder agreement and 
securities held by control block 
holders (C)  

 

 

 

51,251,780 

 

 

 

51,251,780 

 

 

 

67.5% 

 

 

 

52.1% 

     

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 24,611,994 47,089,457 32.5% 48.0% 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other than 
persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders only. 

Class of Security     
Size of Holding   Number of 

holders 
 Total number of 

securities 
     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities  97  48,500 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities  11  16,642,189 
     
  108  16,690,689 
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as registered 
shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an intermediary where 
the Issuer has been given written confirmation of shareholdings. For the purposes of this 
section, it is sufficient if the intermediary provides a breakdown by number of beneficial 
holders for each line item below; names and holdings of specific beneficial holders do not 
have to be disclosed. If an intermediary or intermediaries will not provide details of beneficial 
holders, give the aggregate position of all such intermediaries in the last line. 

Class of Security     
Size of Holding   Number of 

holders 
 Total number of 

securities 
     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities  15  9,850 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  7  9,536 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
*4,000 – 4,999 securities  18  50,353 
     
5,000 or more  securities  51  3,086,122 
     
Unable to confirm     

 

Note: * indicates combined shareholders with holdings between 2,000 and 4,999 

Total number of shareholders holding free-trading positions of at least one board lot, not including insiders is 190 
as at date of this Listing Statement.



  

  42 
 

DOCS #11104904 v. 15  
 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are persons 
enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital chart.  

Class of Security     
Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities
     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities  5  61,670,989 
     
  5  61,670,989 

 

14.2 CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES 

GSF has the following convertible securities (not including options and warrants) 
outstanding as of the date of this Listing Statement: 

Description of Security 
(converstion/exercise terms) 

Number of Securities 
Outstanding 

Number of Listed Securities 
Issuable Upon Conversion 

Debentures paying 10% capitalized interest, 
convertible into Units at a 25% discount to 
the share price established in the context of 
the RTO transaction, each Unit comprised of 
a common share and one-half common 
share purchase warrant exercisable for 18 
months after the closing date of the listing at 
a price equal to the price ascribed to a 
common share in the context of the RTO 
listing. 

There is a total face value of 
$1,007,975 in debentures 
outstanding as of the date of this 
Listing Statement. 

6,719,835 common shares 

3,359,918 common share 
purchase warrants exercisable at 
$0.20, expiring Dec 1, 2013 

 

14.3 LISTED SECURITIES RESERVED FOR ISSUANCE 

N/A 
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15. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Compensation of executive officers 

The following tables provide the compensation of the President and Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer. The Issuer had no executive officer whose total 
compensation and bonuses exceeded $150,000 over the last two financial years.  

Summary compensation table 

The following table provides the total compensation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer for the financial years ended December 31, 2011 and 2012. 

Name and 
principal 
position 

Year Salary 

($) 

Bonuses 

($) 

Option
-based 
awards

($) 

All other 
compensation 

($) 

Total 
compensation

($) 

Cameron 
McDonald 

Chief Executive 
Officer 

2012 
2011 

 

- 

- 

- 

- 

64,540 

- 

85,000 

60,000 

149,540 

Robert Boisjoli 
Chief Financial 
Officer 

2012 
2011 

 

- 

- 

- 

- 

64,540 

- 

85,000 

60,000 

149,540 

 

Outstanding option-based awards 

The following table provides for each of the executive officers all of the outstanding option-
based awards for the financial year ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012. 

Name Year Number of 
securities 
underlying 

unexercised 
options 

(#) 

Options 
exercise 

price 
 

 
($) 

Option 
expiration 

date 

Value of 
unexercised 

in-the-
money 
options 

 
($) 

Cameron McDonald 2012 
2011 

700,000 

- 

 

0.20 Dec 7, 
2015 

$0 

Robert Boisjoli 2012 700,000 0.20 Dec 7, $0 
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2011 - 2015 

 

The following table provides for each executive officer all the awards granted pursuant to an 
incentive plan for the financial year ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2012. 

Name Year Option-based 
awards – 

value vested 
during the 

year 
 

($) 

Stock-based 
awards – 

value vested 
during the 

year 
 

($) 

Non-equity 
incentive plan 
compensation 

other than stock-
based - value 

earned during the 
year 
($) 

Cameron McDonald 2012 
2011 

64,540 

 

0 0 

Robert Boisjoli 2012 
2011 

64,540 0 0 

 

Termination and change of control benefits 

The Issuer has no arrangement for compensation to be received by the executive officers in 
the event of termination or modification of their responsibilities arising from a change of 
control. 

Directors’ compensation 

No compensation was paid to the directors of the Issuer for their services as director. 

Summary compensation table 

The following table provides the compensation paid and options granted to the non-
executive directors of the Issuer for the financial years ended December 31, 2011 and 
December 31, 2012. 

Name Year Fees 
earned 

 
($) 

Option-
based 

awards 

($) 

All other 
compensation 

($) 

Total 
 

($) 

Bill Robertson 2012 

2011 

- 

- 

129,000 

- 

- 

- 

129,000 

- 
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Daniel Stechey 2012 

2011 

- 

- 

129,000 

- 

- 

- 

129,000 

- 

Mayco Quiroz 2012 

2011 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

Rene Guimond 2012 

2011 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

      

 

Option-based awards 

The following table provides for each non-executive director the outstanding option-based 
awards, for the financial years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011. 

Name Year Number of 
securities 
underlying 

unexercised 
options 

(#) 

Options 
exercise 

price 

 

($) 

Options 
expiration 

date 

Value of 
unexercised 

in-the-
money 
options 

($) 

      

Bill Robertson 2012 

2011 

1,400,000 0.20 Dec 7, 
2015 

0 

Daniel Stechey 2012 

2011 

1,400,000 0.20 Dec 7, 
2015 

0 

Mayco Quiroz 2012 

2011 

- - - - 

Rene Guimond 2012 

2011 

- - - - 

 

The following table provides for each non-executive director the awards granted pursuant to 
an incentive plan for the financial years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011. 
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Name Year Option-based 
awards – value 
vested during 

the year 
 

($) 

Stock-based 
awards – value 
vested during 

the year 
 

($) 

Non-equity 
incentive plan 
compensation 

other than 
stock-based - 
value earned 

during the year
($) 

     

Bill Robertson 2012

2011

129,000 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

Daniel Stechey 2012

2011

129,000 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

Mayco Quiroz 2012

2011

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

Rene Guimond 2012

2011

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

 

STOCK OPTION PLAN 

All options of the Issuer owned by the directors, executive officers, employees and 
consultants have been issued under a stock option plan of the Issuer (the “Stock Option 
Plan”). The plan provides that a maximum of 7,042,835 stock options of Class A can be 
granted, [this number representing 10% of the total stock issued and outstanding of 
the Issuer after the Consolidation and the GSF Acquisition]. 

The Stock Option Plan provides the terms, conditions and pricing of the options. Only 
directors, executive officers, employees and consultants of the Issuer and its affiliates may 
be granted options. The Stock Options Plan provides that the options may not be granted 
for a period exceeding ten (10) years. 

No person can hold options representing more than 5% of the issued and outstanding 
Class A Shares of the Issuer. 

The total number of Class A s Shares under options was, after the Consolidation and the 
GSF Acquisition, 7,000,000. 

 

DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE 
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The Issuer maintains director’s and executive officer’s liability insurance on behalf of the 
directors and officers protecting them with respect to their activities. For the financial year 
ended December 31, 2012, the policy provides a maximum coverage of $5,000,000 per 
each policy period and the premium paid for the policy was $19,300 per year. 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

None of the actual or proposed directors or executive officers of the Issuer nor any 
associate of such director or executive officer are indebted to the Issuer since its 
incorporation.  

INTEREST OF INFORMED PERSONS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

To the Issuer’s knowledge, no insider of the Issuer, no proposed director nor any associate 
or affiliate of any informed person or proposed director has any material interest, direct or 
indirect, in any transaction since the commencement of the Corporation's most recently 
completed financial year, or in any proposed material transactions that has or could have 
materially affected the Issuer or its affiliates.  

16. INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

None of the directors or officers are indebted to the Resulting Issuer other than that incurred 
in the normal course of business. 

17. RISK FACTORS 

17.1 RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

As in traditional forms of agriculture, aquaculture operations are becoming increasingly 
intensive to enhance productivity and efficiency.  Greater intensity, however, also produces 
a corresponding increase in overall operational risk and requires the use of automated 
controls and closely managed systems.  Consequently, effective risk management 
strategies are an essential component of successful aquaculture ventures.   

The major risk factors in intensive aquaculture include fish health, systems failure, 
operational management, and market conditions.  The table below outlines the most 
common risk factors in intensive aquaculture and provides the pertinent management 
strategies. 

Potential risk factors and management strategies: 

Type of Risk Risk Factor Management Strategy 

Biological  disease outbreak 

 poor growth performance 

 unavailable fingerlings 

 early sexual maturation 

 proper monitoring 

 purchase good stocks and feed 

 secure supply contract  

 use all-female, triploid or late-
maturing stocks 

Vandalism  theft or vandalism of stock  24-hour security  
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Type of Risk Risk Factor Management Strategy 

 damage or theft of equipment  insure equipment 

Regulatory  loss of culture permits  ensure operation complies with 
existing regulations 

 

Competition  discount pricing by competitors

 aggressive customer service 

 innovation by competitors 

 produce a quality product at a 
competitive price 

 consistent supply of product 

 use state-of-the-art technology 

Loss  production shortfalls 

 unforeseen inventory 
reductions 

 poor feed conversion or growth

 implement a production planning 
strategy 

 tight inventory control 

 maintain good operating records

Systems  cage system failure (weather 
or otherwise) 

 routine inspection & maintenance 
of nets, moorings, vessels, etc. 

 Site location (weather protection)

Market  changes in market demand or 
supply 

 bad debt 

 expand into markets cautiously 
and build customer loyalty 

 deal on cash basis or tight credit 
terms 

 

17.2 FISH HEALTH MANAGEMENT  

Disease is the result of a series of environmental, physical and/or physiological factors in 
combination that seriously stress the fish prior to the occurrence of clinical disease.  
Prevention is the key to effective fish health management and is provided through the 
maintenance of optimal water quality and rearing conditions in the cages.  The latter 
generally consists of ensuring adequate exchange of water to help maintain proper 
dissolved oxygen levels, flushing of metabolic wastes, and maintaining proper biomass 
densities. 

The introduction of disease can either come via the water supply (i.e. bacteria), from 
environmentally induced stress or from introduced fish (both wild and domestic).  The 
prevention and control of disease in fish culture operations can be best achieved employing 
a program of good husbandry and culture practices.  This involves a number of factors 
including: 

 maintaining fish in an environment of clean and well-oxygenated water; 

 providing the fish with a quality diet that meets all of their nutritional requirements; 

 minimizing stress by maintaining optimal stocking densities; 
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 securing stocks from “disease free” hatcheries; and 

 routinely monitoring fish health and adjusting operational practices, when necessary, 
as a preventative measure. 

17.3 OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT  

Productivity in aquaculture is dependent upon feed conversion, fish health and growth; all of 
which are dependent upon facility design and operational management.  Management is 
perhaps the single largest factor influencing productivity performance.  To operate 
successfully, intensive production systems and their critical components must be effectively 
managed.  Profitable operation requires not only the ability to manage complex biophysical 
interactions over long periods of time, but to do so in an economically efficient manner.  
Consequently, an experienced and capable management team is an essential component 
for profitable operation of the venture.  Staff must be appropriately trained and prepared to 
respond to critical situations effectively and efficiently. 

Operational risk should be effectively managed using a management information system 
designed to monitor all key operating parameters and provide timely feedback to the staff 
and management to enable effective decision-making.  Such parameters include regular 
biomass inventories (stocking densities and fish sizes), daily feed and oxygen 
concentrations, water temperature and quality, feed conversion ratios and growth rates.   

Computerized production schedules should be used to schedule and monitor system 
performance.  In combination with the management information system, a computerized 
production plan can be used to conduct routine variance analyses on system performance 
and track the source of variability in productivity. 

Specific risks that may be associated with the development of an aquaculture venture 
include: 

17.3.1 Poor Site Selection 

 Storm damage; 

 Excessive distance to cage site; excessive time, effort and resources in transport, 
poorer monitoring and supervision of site (many of the target sites are remote). 

17.3.2 Environmental Conditions 

 Water temperature profile remains uncertain and may not support reasonable 
growth cycle; 

 Temperature stress; 

 Dissolved oxygen profile remains uncertain and may not support sufficient 
production to be economically feasible. 
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17.3.3 Staffing 

 Novice aquaculturists: 

 Fish husbandry activities not done well: feeding, inventory, grading, disease 
treatments; 

 Signs of disease not recognized; 

 Net changes not done well. 

 Attracting staff who will stay on remote cage sites; 

 Poor installation of cages resulting in system failure; 

 Lack of inspection and maintenance resulting in cage failure: 

 Bio-fouling not monitored; 

 Mooring structures not inspected regularly; 

 Cage mesh not inspected regularly. 

 Damage to cages or moorings from boats when approaching and departing cage 
site. 

17.3.4 Vandalism and Theft 

 Remote sites with little security. 

17.4 SYSTEMS FAILURE  

Two principal factors can potentially lead to systems failure and catastrophic losses of fish:  
(1) key component fatigue; and (2) accidents.  Operational reliability can be enhanced 
significantly by developing and implementing a comprehensive maintenance schedule.  
Daily inspection and maintenance of nets and hardware is essential, as is routine diving to 
inspect and maintain the sub-surface moorings system.   Accidents are typically of three 
natures:  (1) damage from severe weather (such as hurricanes); (2) damage from boats and 
motors; and (3) spillage of fish during transport.  Weather related damage can be minimized 
by situating on sites with nature protective barriers (bays) and by deploying equipment 
designed to accommodate large waves and storm surges.  The responsible and careful use 
of motorized vessels around cage sites is essential to prevent damage from unintended 
contact with the cage system.  Similarly, due care and attention are required to prevent the 
loss of fish during transport and handling (i.e. for the purposes of grading and transferring 
between cages). 

Below is a brief summary of some of the most relevant risk factors. Furthermore, the risks 
described in this section are not the only ones facing the Company. Additional risks not 
presently known to the Company or that the Company currently deems immaterial may also 
impair the Company's business operations and adversely affect the price of the Company's 
Shares. 
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 Environmental risk 

Fish farming is operated in open net cage systems located in marine 
environment and is hence exposed to changing weather conditions 
as well as pollution of open seas. 

 Diseases 

Operation of fish farming facilities involves not inconsiderable risk 
with regard to disease. In case of an outbreak of a serious disease, 
the farmer will, in addition to the direct loss of fish, incur substantial 
costs in the form of lost growth on biomass, accelerated harvesting, 
loss of quality of harvested fish and subsequent periodic reduced 
production capacity. 

 Prices and the demand for production 

GSF’s financial position and future development depend to a 
considerable extent on the price it will receive for its production. 
There is no guarantee that future prices for the company’s product 
will ensure profitable operations. 

 Feed costs 

Feed costs account for a significant proportion of total production 
costs within the fish farming sector, and fluctuations in feed prices 
could therefore have a major impact on profitability within the 
industry. Feed prices are affected both by the global market for fish 
meal and marine/ animal/vegetable oils, and the fact that the feed 
industry is dominated by a small number of large, global producers. 

 Approvals from regulatory authorities 

GSF’s future expansion will be dependent on securing operating 
permits in various jurisdictions. There can be no guarantee that such 
approvals will be obtained, and, if obtained, they may be subject to 
conditions. 

 Retention of key personnel 

The Company’s business and prospects depend to a significant 
extent on the continued services of its key personnel in its various 
business areas. Many regions where the Company operates are 
remote areas and the location of its production facilities may 
negatively affect its ability to attract the necessary management and 
other employee resources. 
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 Financial liquidity and additional financing requirements 

The Company will require ongoing infusions of debt and equity 
capital to expand operations and support working capital 
requirements until such times as the Company has sufficient 
internally generated cash flow to cover its financing requirements. 

 Volatility of share price 

GSF’s share price may experience substantial volatility. The trading 
price of the Shares could fluctuate significantly in response to 
quarterly variations in operating results, adverse business 
developments, interest rate changes, changes in financial estimates 
by securities analysts, matters announced in respect of major 
customers or competitors or changes to the regulatory environment 
in which GSF operates. 

17.5 CROP FAILURE  

All fish farming operations are vulnerable to failure to produce a crop. Most fish crop failures 
are a direct result of escapes, disease, plankton infestation and/or contamination of the fish 
population from outside sources. The Company has taken exhaustive steps, through the 
design of its operations and through the monitoring and management of fish stocks, to 
mitigate the development of these conditions could cause the wholesale loss of an entire 
crop. Feed conversions and feed quality may affect the production of biomass which could 
lower the yield of and size of cultured species, resulting in lower than anticipated harvest 
size and lower revenue.  

17.6 EARLY STAGE DEVELOPMENT  

The Company is at an early stage of development and subject to start-up risks and will 
therefore be subject to the risks associated with early stage companies, including startup 
losses, lack and uncertainty of revenues, markets and profitability and the need to raise 
additional funding.  

17.7 OPERATIONS IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES 

GSF is active in the Dominican Republic and is actively engaged in evaluating other project 
opportunities in developing markets. These countries often lack the consistency of 
infrastructure (electrical grids, water utilities) that would otherwise be prevalent in a 
developed country, and are also often in the early stages of developing their regulatory 
frameworks for the oversight of industries like aquaculture. As a result, the Company may 
be subject to permitting delays and risks related to the availability and robustness of key 
operating infrastructure.  

17.8 COMPETITION AND MARKET RISKS 

GSF competes in the global seafood market and in particular, other sources of farmed and 
wild caught fish. The market for seafood products is very intense and is impacted by a wide 
variety of demand and pricing factors. Further, many companies operating in these markets 
will have greater financial resources and technical capabilities than the Company.  
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The Company’s initial focus species of Florida Pompano does not have any material 
competitor from a farmed source and the legal commercial harvest of this species is 
relatively small. As such there is no established market price for the product as one might 
have for salmon or halibut.  

Feed costs account for a significant proportion of total production costs within the fish 
farming sector and fluctuations in feed prices could have a major impact on profitability. 
Feed prices are affected by the global market for fishmeal and marine/animal, vegetable oils 
and the fact that the feed industry is dominated by a small number of large, global 
producers. Natural limitations in the marine resource base could lead to global shortages of 
fishmeal and oil for fish feed producers. Efforts to replace marine-based inputs with 
vegetable raw materials have reduced industry sensitivity to these factors significantly over 
the past decade or so.  

17.9 OPERATIONAL RISKS 

All fish farming operations deal with operational risks. These include the incidence of 
disease, production disruptions like power failures and acts of nature from severe weather 
to earthquakes. The Company takes every measure to mitigate the potential impact of any 
of these risks including the purchase of eggs from guaranteed disease free sources, 
ensuring there are back up power sources for key points of operations and locating grow-out 
facilities in areas afforded some degree of weather protection. 

17.10 FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK  

The Company is subject to foreign currency exchange rate risks in particular the risk relating 
to the fluctuation in value among the Canadian dollar, Dominican Peso (“DRP”) and United 
States dollar (“USD”). The Company’s major operating expenses and fixed assets in the 
Dominican Republic are denominated in DRP. Consequently, the Company’s profitability 
and value of assets are subject to exchange rates risks among Canadian dollars and DRP. 
A rising DRP relative to the Canadian dollar would increase operating costs and thus affect 
the profitability of the Company. The Company also procures supplies and equipment in 
USD and as a result is subject to the same currency exchange risks.  

17.11 ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

The Company’s current and future operations will be governed by environmental laws and 
regulations covering its industry. These laws and regulations are specific to each jurisdiction 
in which the Company operates and as such is subject to the risk of legislative and 
regulatory change initiatives of these jurisdictions.  

17.12 DEPENDENCE ON, AND PROTECTION OF, KEY PERSONNEL  

The Company is dependent upon the continued support and involvement of its managers, 
directors and officers to develop its business and operations. If the Company were to lose 
their services, the Company’s ability to implement its business plans could be severely 
curtailed or delayed.  
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17.13 LIQUIDITY CONCERNS AND FUTURE FINANCING REQUIREMENTS  

The Company may require additional financing in order to fund its plan of operations. The 
Company’s ability to arrange such financing in the future will depend in part upon prevailing 
capital market conditions, as well as the Company’s resulting business success. There can 
be no assurance that the Company will be successful in its efforts to arrange additional 
financing on terms satisfactory to the same. If additional financing is raised by the issuance 
of common shares from treasury, control of the Company may change and Shareholders 
may suffer additional dilution. If adequate funds are not available, or are not available on 
acceptable terms, the Company may not be able to take advantage of other opportunities, 
curtail business operations or cancel planned projects, or otherwise remain in business.  

17.14 ACQUISITIONS 

GSF’s strategy contemplates the ongoing review and assessment of acquisitions of assets 
and operations in various different markets and as such the Company will be subject to the 
risks of such acquisitions including integration risk, due diligence risk, retention of key 
personnel risk, and permit transferability risk, amongst others.  

18. PROMOTERS 

W. Cameron McDonald is a promoter of GSF as he took the initiative in originally founding 
and organizing the business of GSF. 

19. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

N/A  

20. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

N/A 

21. AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS 

21.1 AUDITORS 

The auditor of the Issuer is Raymond, Chabot Grant Thornton LLP at their office in Montreal 
(Québec) located at 600 de la Gauchetière Street West. 

21.2 TRANSFER AGENTS 

From the date of the GSF acquisition, transfer agent of the Issuer will be Computershare at 
their office in Montreal (Québec) located at 1500 University Street, 7th Floor. 

22. MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

22.1 MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

The only material contracts of the Issuer entered into within the two years before the date of 
this Listing Statement are: 

 The Escrow Agreement (refer to Section 11);  
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22.2 CO-TENANCY, UNITHOLDERS’ OR LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT 

N/A 

23. INTEREST OF EXPERTS 

N/A 

24. OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

N/A 
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25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

25.1 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & MD&A  – SEE APPENDIX  ATTACHMENT 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to 
Global SeaFarms Corporation. It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does 
not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a 
statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which 
it was made. 

Dated at Montreal, Quebec 

this  30th   day of  April  , 2013. 

 

[signed] Cameron McDonald 

  

[signed] Robert Boisjoli 

Cameron McDonald 
Chief Executive Officer 

 Robert Boisjoli 
Chief Financial Officer 
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APPENDIX A:  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - ATTACHMENTS 

APPENDIX B: MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS - ATTACHMENTS 

 



  

December 31, 2012 and 2011

GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC. 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Raymond Chabot Grant Thornton LLP 
Suite 2000 
National Bank Tower 
600 De La Gauchetière Street West 
Montréal, Quebec  H3B 4L8 
 
Telephone: 514-878-2691 
Fax: 514-878-2127 
www.rcgt.com 

 

Partnership of Chartered Professional Accountants 
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd 

Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Shareholders of

Global SeaFarms Corporation Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Global

SeaFarms Corporation Inc., which comprise the consolidated statements of

financial position as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 and the consolidated

statements of comprehensive loss, changes in deficiency and cash flows for the

years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these

consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial

Reporting Standards (IFRS) and for such internal control as management

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial

statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with

Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we

comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the

amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures

selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks

of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal

control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated

financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of

the consolidated financial statements.



We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material

respects, the financial position of Global SeaFarms Corporation Inc. as at

December 31, 2012 and 2011 and its financial performance and its cash flows for

the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS).

Emphasis of matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated

financial statements which indicate that the Company has a cumulated deficit of

$4,820,802 ($1,801,626 as at December 31, 2011). This condition, along with other

matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that

may cast significant doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going

concern.

/S/ Raymond Chabot Grant Thornton LLP
1

Montréal

April 26, 2013

1
CPA auditor, CA public accountancy permit no. A115028
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

December 31, December 31, 

2012 2011

(in Canadian dollars) Notes $ $

ASSETS

Current

Cash 78,611                    40,383                    

Trade and other receivables 7 113,616                  43,753                    

Inventories 56,126                    

Biological assets 8 330,970                  49,032                    

Prepaid expenses 13,848                    23,475                    

593,171                  156,643                  

Non-current

Property and Equipment 9 258,068                  198,395                  

Total assets 851,239                355,038                

LIABILITIES

Current

Trade and other payables 10 859,036                  387,807                  

Short-term loans 11 460,020                  125,457                  

1,319,056              513,264                  

Non-current

Convertible debentures 12 885,268                  660,516                  

Long-term loans 13 478,864                  -                                

Total liabilities 2,683,188              1,173,780              

DEFICIENCY

Share capital 15 1,755,110              538,818                  

Contributed Surplus 1,139,154              342,555                  

Equity component of the convertible debenture 108,823                  93,731                    

Deficit (4,820,802)             (1,801,626)             

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (14,234)                   7,780                       

Total deficiency (1,831,949)             (818,742)                

Total liabilities and deficiency 851,239                355,038                

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

 [signed]  Cameron McDonald  [signed]  Robert Boisjoli

Cameron McDonald

Director Director

Robert Boisjoli

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors 

on April 26, 2013.
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

2012 2011

(in Canadian dollars, except number of shares) Notes $ $

SALES 222,206 17,620

COST OF GOODS SOLD 109,349 5,998

GROSS PROFIT 112,857 11,622

EXPENSES

Operating expenses 1,033,229 874,635                           

Selling and administrative expenses 19 1,144,660 286,609                           

Foreign exchange loss (32,520) (11,953)                           

Total  expenses 2,145,369                       1,149,291                       

Loss from operations (2,032,512) (1,137,669)

Cost of listing 6 726,382 -                                     

Professional fees related to the transaction 6 59,655 -                                     

Finance costs 20 200,627 71,489

Loss before income taxes (3,019,176)                     (1,209,158)                     

Income taxes 14 -                                     34,493                             

Net loss (3,019,176)                     (1,174,665)                     

Other Comprehensive loss

Currency translation adjustement (22,014) 42,719                             

Total comprehensive loss (3,041,190)                     (1,131,946)                     

Net Loss per share

     Basic and diluted (0.04) (0.02)

Weighted average number of class A shares outstanding

     Basic and diluted 72,857,542 68,536,689

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Deficiency
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

Notes
Number of 

shares
Amount

$ $ $ $ $

Balance January 1, 2012 94,583,303       538,818 342,555 93,731 (1,801,626) 7,780 (818,742)            

Reverse stock split 15 (92,691,637)     -                            -                              

Convertible debentures issued 12 -                            -                            -                          16,809 -                              -                              16,809                 

Shares issued pursuant to debenture conversion 15 75,419                9,514                  -                          (1,717) -                              -                              7,797                   

Shares issued pursuant to the reverse acquisition 6 68,536,689       378,333             -                          -                       -                              -                              378,333              

Issuance costs related to the reverse acquisition 6 -                            (59,655)              -                          -                       -                              -                              (59,655)               

Shares issued pursuant to a  private placement 15 5,360,000          917,632             -                          -                       -                              -                              917,632              

Share issue costs (1) 15 -                            (29,532)              -                          -                       -                              -                              (29,532)               

Stock based payments 17 -                            -                            645,400           -                       -                              -                              645,400              

Warrants issued pursuant to the debenture 
conversion

16 -                            -                            1,799                -                       -                              -                              1,799                   

Warrants issued pursuant to a private placement 16 -                            -                            154,368           -                       -                              -                              154,368              

Warrants issue costs 16 -                            -                            (4,968)              -                       -                              -                              (4,968)                 

Transactions with owners 75,863,774     1,755,110        1,139,154      108,823      (1,801,626)        7,780                   1,209,241          

Net loss -                            -                            -                          -                       (3,019,176)          -                              (3,019,176)        

Currency translation adjustment -                            -                            -                          -                       (22,014)                (22,014)               

Total comprehensive loss -                            -                            -                          -                       (3,019,176)          (22,014)                (3,041,190)        

Balance December 31, 2012 75,863,774     1,755,110        1,139,154      108,823      (4,820,802)        (14,234)              (1,831,949)        

Balance January 1, 2011 94,583,303       538,818 342,555 -                       (626,961) (34,939) 219,473

Convertible debentures issued, net of deferred tax 
liability of $ 34, 493 12 -                            -                            -                          93,731 -                              -                              93,731

Transactions with owners 94,583,303     538,818           342,555         93,731         (626,961)            (34,939)              313,204              

Net loss -                            -                            -                          -                       (1,174,665) -                              (1174.665)

Currency translation adjustment -                            -                            -                          -                       -                              42,719 42,719

Total comprehensive loss -                           -                            -                          -                       (1,174,665)          42,719                  (1,131,946)        

Balance December 31, 2011 94,583,303     538,818           342,555         93,731         (1,801,626)        7,780                   (818,742)            

(1) net of taxes of $7,944, which amount has not been recognized

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Total deficiency(in Canadian dollars, except number of shares) 

Share capital

Contributed 
suplus

Equity 
component 

of the 
convertible 
debentures

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
lossDeficit
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

2012 2011

(in Canadian dollars) Notes $ $

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net loss before income tax (3,019,176) (1,209,158)

Non-cash items

Effective interest costs on convertible debentures 123,848 23,997

Depreciation of property and equipment 9 35,855 31,467

Stock-based payments 17 645,400 -                         

Cost of listing 6 726,382 -                         

Net changes in working capital items 21 33,557 125,843

Net cash flows fom operating activities (1,454,134) (1,027,851)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property and equipment 9 (92,007) (23,192)

Net cash flows from investing activities (92,007) (23,192)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash from reverse acquisition 179 -                         

Proceeds from short-term loans 395,500 125,457

Proceeds from convertible debentures issued 125,000 775,500

Proceeds from long-term loans 25,000 -                         

Proceeds from private unit placement (net of issue costs) 15 1,037,500 -                         

Issuance costs related to the reverse acquisition 6 (59,655) -                         

Convertible debentures issue costs -                         (10,757)

Net cash flows from financing activities 1,523,524 890,200

Net change in cash (22,617) (160,843)

Cash, beginning of year 40,383 161,355

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held in foreign 

currencies
60,845 39,871

Cash, end of year 78,611 40,383

Additional information

Interest paid included in operating activities 2,250 9,412

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

1.  STATUTES OF INCORPORATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

2.  GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION

3.   BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Corporation started commercial operations in 2011 following the acquisition of the Dominican assets in 2010. The Corporation initiated trial
productions in 2011 and has run commercial productions which began selling to the market in 2012. For the year ended December 31, 2012, the
Corporation has a cumulated deficit of $ 4,820,802 ($ 1,801,626 as at December 31, 2011) and has commercial sales amounting to $ 222,206 based on a
small volume of production. Consequently, the Corporation did not cover its operating expenses from its hatchery, farm operations or its selling and
administrative expenses. These material uncertainties have cast significant doubt regarding the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern. Given
that the Corporation had just started full production cycle in December 2011, the Corporation had not yet generated positive cash flows from its
operations. The Corporation’s continuation as a going concern is dependent upon, amongst other things, attaining a satisfactory revenue level, attaining
profitable operations and the generation of cash flows from operations, the ability to secure new financing arrangements and new capital. These matters
are dependent on a number of items outside of the Corporation’s control.

Global Seafarms Corporation Inc. (“GSFC” or the “Corporation” or “the parent Corporation”), is a public Corporation listed on the Canadian National Stock
Exchange (CNSX) and its trading symbol is “GSF”. GSFC’s primary business activity focuses on the acquisition and development of aquaculture projects in
the Americas. GSFC currently operates an integrated aquaculture operation involved in the raising, harvesting and processing of Florida Pompano and
related products in the Dominican Republic. The Corporation's head office is located at 1 Place Ville-Marie, suite 1812, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3B 4A9. 

GSFC (formerly FRV Media Inc. or FRV) was incorporated in 1998 under the Canada Business Corporation Act. GSFC is the result of transaction whereby
GSFC (or FRV) acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Global Seafarms Group Inc. (“GSFG”) by issuing shares as more fully described in Note
6, Reverse Acquisition, to these consolidated financial statements. Upon completion of the transaction, GSFG became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
GSFC (legally) and following this transaction chose to maintain the operating corporation’s year end and changed it financial year-end from October 31 to
December 31.

GSFC owns two wholly owned subsidiaries, GSFG and Caribbean Seafarms S.R.L. (“CSF”) (where GSFC, GSFG and CSF collectively are the “GSF”). GSFG was
incorporated in March 2010 under the Canada Business Corporations Act and CSF was incorporated in May 2010 under the General Law of the
Commercial Companies and Individual Companies of Limited Responsibility of the Dominican Republic (Ley General de Sociedades Commeciales y
Empresas Individuales de Responsabilidad Limitada del Republica Dominicana).

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the going concern assumption which assumes that the Corporation will, in the
normal course of business, be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities.

3.1 Statement of Compliance

3.2 Basis of measurement

The carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses presented in the consolidated statements of financial position and consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss have not been adjusted as would be required if the going concern assumption was not appropriate.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

These consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost method, except for where IFRS requires recognition at fair value.
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

3.   BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

4.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1     Overall considerations 

As at December 31, 2012, the consolidated financial statements include those of the parent Corporation and its subsidiaries. The subsidiaries are entities
over which the Corporation has the power to control the financial and operating policies. The subsidiaries are 100% owned by the parent Corporation.
The annual reporting date of the subsidiaries is December 31.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars. The functional currency of GSFC and GSFG is the Canadian dollars and the
functional currency of CSF is the Dominican Republic Pesos.

4.2     Foreign currency translation

3.3  Basis of consolidation

Foreign currency transactions and balances in GSFC, GSFG and CSF are translated in their respective functional currency using the following method:

- Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary items at year end exchange rates are
included in profit or loss.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented using accounting policies specified by those IFRS that are in effect on December 31, 2012.

Profit and loss and other comprehensive loss of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the reporting year are recognized from the effective date of
the acquisition until the effective date of disposal, as applicable.

All inter-corporate transactions and balances between the parent Corporation and its subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation including unrealized
gains and losses on transactions between the GSF's companies.

- Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are translated at the closing exchange rate in effect at the reporting date, whereas other assets and
liabilities are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the transaction date.

 - Revenues and expenses are translated at the average rate in effect during the year. 

Assets, liabilities and transactions of the subsidiary with a functional currency other than the Canadian dollars are translated into Canadian dollars on
consolidation. On consolidation, assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at the closing rate of the reporting date. Income and expenses
are translated under the Corporation's presentation currency at the average rate over the reporting year. Exchange differences are presented as other
comprehensive loss and recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive loss in deficiency. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative translation
differences recognized in deficiency are reclassified to profit or loss and recognized as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

4.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Corporation does not have any finance leases.

For the purpose of calculating diluted loss per share, the Corporation assume the exercise of all dilutive options, warrants and conversion of debentures of
the Corporation. The assumed proceeds from these instruments shall be regarded as having been received from the issue of class A shares at the average
market price of class A shares during the year. Convertible debentures are anti-dilutive whenever their interest (net of tax and other change in income or
expense) per class A shares obtainable on conversion, exceeds basic earnings per share at the end of the reporting year. The diluted loss per share is equal
to the basic loss per share as a result of the anti-dilutive effect of the outstanding options, warrants and convertible debentures.

(b) The Corporation retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the 
goods sold;

Rebates to customers are recognized as a reduction of the sale price and presented as a reduction of the sales of goods in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss. These rebates are recognized when they are considered as probable and can be reasonably estimated. 

(e) Transaction costs incurred or to be incurred can be measured reliably.

The Corporation recognizes revenue when all of the following conditions are satisfied:

(a) The Corporation has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods, that is on delivery of the goods;

4.6     Basic and diluted loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to class A shareholders of the parent Corporation by the weighted average number of
class A shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the loss attributable to class A shareholders of the parent
Corporation, and the weighted average number of class A shares outstanding, for the effects of all dilutive potential class A shares witch include options,
warrants and convertible debentures. Dilutive potential class A shares shall be deemed to have been converted into class A shares at the beginning of the
year or, if later, at the date of issue of the potential class A shares. 

4.5     Operating lease agreements

(d) It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Corporation;

Management currently identifies only one operating segment, being the sector of the operation of high growth aquaculture projects in Dominican
Republic. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods in the ordinary course of business. Revenue is
shown net of rebates and sales taxes.

4.3     Segmental reporting

(c) The amount of the sales of goods can be measured reliably;

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments under an
operating lease are charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Related expenses, such as
maintenance and insurance expenses, are charged as incurred.

The Corporation presents and discloses segmental information based on information that is regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-makers, i.e.
the Chairman and the Board of Directors.

The Corporation recognizes goods sales upon shipment of products to customers. The Corporation experiences very few goods returns and collectability
of its invoices is consistently high.

4.4     Revenue recognition
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

4.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

 - default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

The Corporation's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, short and long term loans and convertible debentures.

Financial assets

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are subsequently, measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

All interest-related charges are reported in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss within finance costs.

Impairment of financial assets

All financial assets are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is any objective evidence
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

 - significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;

A financial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or when it expires.

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and all
substantial risks and rewards are transferred.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial
recognition, these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment, if so. Discounting is omitted where
the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Corporation's cash and trade and other receivables, except sales taxes receivable are included into this
category.

4.7     Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value plus transactions costs, except for financial assets and financial liabilities
carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured initially at fair value.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Corporation becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

 - it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization.

Impairment of receivables, if applicable, are presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss within selling and administrative expenses, if
applicable.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured subsequently as described below.
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

4.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

At the point of harvest, the fair value of the mature fish can be reliably measured and these fish are measured at fair value. The fair value of harvested fish
is based on the market value of these mature fish. Costs to sell are not taken into consideration when determining the fair value of the mature fish as the
Corporation sells the fish directly to the customers and does not incur selling expenses.

4.10     Inventories

Inventories comprise mainly fish feed. Fish feed is valued at the lower of historical cost and net realizable value in accordance with the first-in-first-out 
principale. Net realizable value is the replacement cost of the fish feed.

The value of the conversion option classified as equity component is determined at the date of issue by deducting the amount of the liability component
from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This amount is recognized in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently
remeasured. When and if the conversion option is exercised, the equity component of convertible debentures will be transferred to share capital. If the
conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible debentures, the equity component of the convertible debentures will be
transferred to contributed surplus. No gain or loss is recognized upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs related to the issue of convertible debentures are allocated to the liability and equity component in proportion to the initial carrying
amounts. Transaction costs relating to the equity component are recognized directly in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability component and are amortized over the term of the convertible debenture using the effective interest
method.

4.9     Biological Assets

Biological assets comprise eggs, juvenile fish and immature fish in saltwater for which fair value cannot be reliable measured. Eggs, juvenile fish and
immature fish in saltwater are therefore recognized and measured at cost less impairment for losses. There are no markets and market determined prices
do not exist for these assets.

The cost of biological assets is based on the biomass. The valuation of biomass is carried out for each cage. The specification of biomass includes total
number of fish, estimated average weight and the cost of the biomass. Total cost is based on accumulated direct inputs during the grow-out period for the
biomass less impairment for losses.

4.8      Compound financial instruments 

The component parts of compound financial instruments (convertible debentures) issued by the Corporation are classified separately as financial
liabilities and equity component in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

At the date of issue, the liability component is recognized at fair value, which is estimated using the borrowing rate available for similar non convertible
instruments. Subsequently, the liability component is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method until extinguished upon conversion
or at maturity.
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

4.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Details Useful life

Boats 3 years

Cages 10 years

Over the lease terms

Equipment 2 to 10 years 

IT Equipment 3 years

Impairment of property and equipment

An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the amount by which the asset's or cash-generating unit's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating unit is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell and its value in use. To determine the
value in use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each asset or cash-generating unit, and then determines an appropriate interest rate
for the calculation of the expected present value of cash flows.

The impairment loss reduces the asset or is charged pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the cash-generating unit. Where an
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been
recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Gains and losses from sale of property and equipment are calculated as the difference between sales price and carrying value at date of sale and are
included in operating expenses on the statements of comprehensive loss.

Depreciation methods, residual value estimates and estimated useful lives are reviewed annually.

Property and equipment are being depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent cash inflows (cash-generating
units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at a cash-generating unit level.  

Whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, an asset or cash-generating unit is reviewed for
impairment.  

4.11     Property and equipment and impairment of property and equipment

Property and equipment are recognized at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Costs associated with normal maintenance and repairs, required day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are expensed when incurred. Costs of
improvements and the replacement of parts and other items are capitalized when it is probable future economic benefits will occur and the cost of the
item can be reliably measured. 
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

4.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions are recognised when GSF has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past even, it is probable that an outflow of economic
resources will be required from GSF and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still uncertain.

4.13     Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the
reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the
time value of money is material. In those case where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is considered
improbable or remote, no liability is recognized. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, there is no provision recognized in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized as deferred income tax in profit or loss, except where they relate to items that are recognized
in other comprehensive loss or directly in equity, in which case the related deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive loss or equity,
respectively.

4.14     Equity 

Share capital represents the amount received on the issue of shares, less issuance costs, net of any underlying income tax benefit from these issuance
costs. If shares are issued when options and warrants are exercised, the share capital account also comprises the compensation costs previously recorded
as contributed surplus. If shares are issued within the conversion option on convertible debentures is exercise, the share capital account also comprise the
equity component of convertible debentures. 

Contributed surplus includes charges related to the fair value of share options and warrants until such equity instruments are exercised, in which case the
amounts are transferred to share capital. If convertible debenture is not exercised, contributed surplus also comprises the equity component of
convertible debentures.

Proceeds from unit placements are allocated between shares and warrants according to the relative carrying amount of each instrument. The fair value of 
the class A shares is determined according to the market price of the shares on the CNSX on the issuance date and the fair value of the warrants is 
determined using the Black & Sholes pricing model. 

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their
tax bases. However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of goodwill, or on the initial recognition of an asset or liability unless the related
transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit. Deferred tax on temporary differences associated with shares in subsidiaries is
not provided if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled by the Corporation and it is probable that reversal will not occur in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their respective period of realization,
provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the underlying tax loss or deductible temporary differences will be able to be
utilized against future taxable income. Deferred tax liabilities are always recognized in full.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Corporation has a right and intention to set off current tax assets and liabilities from the same
taxation authority.

4.12     Income taxes

Income tax expenses comprise deferred and current taxes and are recognized in the statements of comprehensive loss other than taxes relating to equity,
which are deducted from equity or recognized in other comprehensive loss.

Current income tax assets or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, tax authorities relating to the current or prior reporting years, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.
Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting period. 
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

4.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.16     Standards, amendments and interpretations published but not yet effective

At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have
been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Corporation. Management anticipates that all of the relevant
pronouncements will be adopted in the Corporation's accounting policies for the first year beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement.
Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Corporation's consolidated financial statements is
provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the Corporation's
consolidated financial statements.

Presentation of Financial Statements (IAS 1) (effective for years beginning after July 1, 2012)

IAS 1 was amended to change the disclosure of items presented in Other comprehensive income (“OCI”), including a requirement to separate items
presented in OCI into two groups based on whether or not they may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future. This amendment is required to be
applied for years beginning on or after July 1, 2012. The Corporation expects that this standard wil have an impact on the current presentation of other
comprehensive loss, but should not have an impact on the measurement or recognition of these items.

4.15     Equity-settled share-based payments

Deficit includes all current and prior year retained profit or loss.

Accumulated other comprehensive loss includes the cumulative currency translation adjustment which comprises all foreign currency differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of the foreign subsidiary.

The Corporation operates equity-settled share-based payment plans for its eligible directors, officers, employees and consultants. None of the
Corporation's plans feature any options for a cash settlement.

All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured at their fair values unless that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably. If the Corporation cannot estimate reliably the fair value of the goods or services received, the Corporation measures their value
indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. For the transactions with employees and others providing similar services, the
Corporation measured the fair value of the services received by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. This fair value is measured at
the grant date and excludes the impact of non-market vesting conditions.

All equity-settled share-based payments (except warrants to brokers, if applicable) are ultimately recognized as an expense in the profit or loss with a
corresponding credit to contributed surplus. Equity-settled share-based payments to brokers in respect of an equity financing are recognized as issuance
cost of the entity instruments with a corresponding credit to contributed surplus.

If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number of
share options expected to vest. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any indication that the number of share options expected to vest differs from previous
estimates. Any cumulative adjustment prior to vesting is recognized in the current period. No adjustment is made to any expense recognized in prior year
if share options ultimately exercised are different to that estimated on vesting.

4.14     Equity (continued)
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

Consolidation standards:

Transition guide for IFRS 10, 12  (effective from January 1, 2013)

Disclosure of interests in Other Entities (IFRS 12) (effective from January 1, 2013)

The International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) aims to replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in its entirety. IFRS 9 is
being issued in phases. To date, the sections dealing with recognition, classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities have
been issued. These sections will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. Further sections dealing with impairment
methodology and hedge accounting are still being developed. The objective of this project is to improve the decision usefulness for users of financial
statements by simplifying the classification and measurement requirements for financial instruments. The Corporation's management have yet to assess
the impact of this new standard on the Corporation's consolidated financial statements. However, they do not expect to implement IFRS 9 until all of its
chapters have been published and they can comprehensively assess the impact of all changes. 

Management has not completed its assessment of the impact of the pronouncements on the consolidated results, financial position or cash flows of the
Corporation.

IFRS 13 provides guidance on how fair value should be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other standards within IFRS, including a
clarification of the definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and additional disclosure requirements for use across IFRS.

Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS 10) (effective from January 1, 2013)

This new standard replaces IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements , and SIC-12, Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities . It introduces a
new principle-based definition of control, applicable to all investees to determine the scope of consolidation. The standard provides the framework for
consolidated financial statements and their preparation based on the principle of control.

This new standard provides minimum disclosure requirements when a reporting entity holds an interest in other entities. This standard combines
disclosures required for interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities, which were previously located in
each applicable individual standard.

Subsequent to issuing the new standards the IASB made some changes to the transitional provisions in IFRS 10 and IFRS 12. The guidance confirms that
the entity is not required to apply IFRS 10 retrospectively in certain circumstances and clarifies the requirements to present adjusted comparatives. The
guidance also make changes to IFRS 12 which provide similar relief from the presentation or adjustment of comparative information for periods prior to
the immediately preceding period. Further, it provides additional relief by removing the requirement to present comparatives for the disclosures relating
to unconsolidated structured entities for any period before the first annual period for which IFRS 12 is applied.

Fair Value Measurement (IFRS 13) (effective from January 1, 2013)

4.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.16     Standards, amendments and interpretations published but not yet effective (continued)

Financial Instruments  (IFRS 9) (effective from January 1, 2015)
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

6.     REVERSE ACQUISITION

On May 17, 2012, FRV and GSFG entered into an agreement providing for the acquisition by FRV of GSFG. Following this transaction, FRV acquired all of
the GSFG issued and outstanding common shares by issuing 68,536,689 of its class A shares to the shareholders of GSFG, at deemed price of $ 0.20 per
share, for an aggregate total consideration of $ 13,707,338.

Upon completion of the transaction, GSFG's shareholders controlled FRV and consequently, the transaction was accounted for as a reverse acquisition
("RTO") as FRV was not considered a business. The transaction is considered a reverse asset acquisition, which is equivalent to the issuance of shares by
GSFG for the net assets of FRV. The activities of FRV have been included in the profit or loss of the Corporation since the date of completion of the
transaction. These consolidated financial statements reflect the acquisition of the assets and liabilities of FRV. However, the number of issued and
outstanding shares and warrants and the number of stock options granted presented in these consolidated financial statements are those of FRV.

The resulting consolidated statement of financial position is presented as a continuance of original GSFG and the comparative figures presented in the
financial statements prior to the reverse acquisition are those of the original GSFG.

- Share-based payments

The estimation of share-based payment costs requires the selection of an appropriate valuation model and consideration as to the inputs necessary for the
valuation model chosen. The Corporation has made estimates as to the volatility of its own shares, the probable life of share options and warrants granted
and the time of exercise of those share options and warrants. The model used by the Corporation is the Black & Scholes valuation model.

- Going concern assumption

When determining the fair value of mature fish, management is required to make a number of estimates including market prices and freight costs to sale.
These estimates are subject to volatility in market prices and a number of uncontrollable factors. These factors could significantly affect the fair value of
the mature fish resulting in fair value remeasurement in the future accounting periods.

- Impairment of property and equipment
Determining if there are any facts and circumstances indicating impairment loss or reversal of impairment losses is a subjective process involving
judgment. 

The assessment of the Corporation's ability to execute its strategy by funding future working capital requirements involves judgement. Further
information regarding going concern is outlined in Note 2.

5.     ESTIMATES, JUDGMENTS AND ASSUMPTIONS

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgments, estimates and assumptions about recognition
and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The actual results are likely to differ from the judgments, estimates and assumptions made by
management, and will seldom equal the estimated results. Information about the significant judgments, estimates and assumptions that have the most
significant effect on the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses are discussed below.

- Useful lives of depreciable assets
The assessment of the expected asset's useful life and choosing an appropriate rate of depreciation at each reporting date involves management's
estimations. Actual results, however, may vary due to the nature of the depreciable assets, particularly for cages and equipment.

 - Fair value of Biological assets
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

$

Cash 179

Tax receivable 23,627

Trade and other payables (56,342)

Loan from a shareholder (315,513)

Net liabilities assumed (348,049)

Shares consideration deemed to be issued (378,333)

Cost of listing (726,382)

2012 2011

$ $

Trade accounts 48,619 12,671

Sales taxes receivable 64,734 30,819

Other 263                                 263

113,616 43,753 

2012 2011

$ $

Immature fish

Balance-January 1 49,032                          -                             

Purchases 391,287                       55,030                 

Costs of harvested fish (109,349)                      (5,998)                  

Balance - December 31 330,970 49,032 

The deemed consideration transferred has been established at $ 378,333, which amount is based on the number of FRV shares outstanding immediately 
preceding the acquisition of net assets valued at market price of the shares.

The total consideration transferred and the net liabilities acquired in the amount of $ 726,382 was presented as cost of listing in profit or loss. Total
transaction costs are $119 310 for the acquisition of the net liabilities. An amount of $59,655, has been recognized in profit or loss as professional fees
related to the transaction. An amount of $59,655 has been recognized against share capital, as issuance costs.

6.     REVERSE ACQUISITION (continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2012, biological assets in the amount of $ 109,349 ($ 5,998 in 2011) were included in the comprehensive loss as a
cost of goods sold.

As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, two customers represent respectively 30% and 28% of the trade accounts and respectively 22% and 44% of the sales
(nil in 2011).

No write-down of biological assets to net realizable value has occurred during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 and no reversal of previous
write-downs was recognized as a reduction of expenses in 2012 and 2011. None of the biological assets was pledged as securities for liabilities.

Change in fair value of $112,857 ($11,622 in 2011) is included in the gross profit.

7.      TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

8.      BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, biological assets are detailed as follows:
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

Boats Cages
Leasehold 

improvements
Equipment IT equipment TOTAL

GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance - January 1, 2012 1,283 138,626 9,685 90,652 4,485 244,731 

Net exchange differences (43) (7,777) (2,424) (3,615) (13,859)

Additions 195 53,430 20,481 35,281 -                         109,387

Balance - December 31, 2012 1,435 184,279 27,742 122,318 4,485 340,259

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance - January 1, 2012 (645) (22,161) (464) (21,671) (1,395) (46,336)

Depreciation (419) (14,433) (3,447) (16,629) (927) (35,855)

Balance - December 31, 2012 (1,064) (36,594) (3,911) (38,300) (2,322) (82,191)

Net carrying amount as at 
December 31, 2012

371 147,685 23,831 84,018 2,163 258,068

Boats Cages
Leasehold 

improvements
Equipment IT equipment TOTAL

$ $ $ $ $ $
GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT

Balance - January 1, 2011 1,214 136,569 -                                 77,653 3,255 218,691 

Net exchange differences 69 2,057 404 318 -                         2,848

Additions -                         -                         9,281 12,681 1,230 23,192

Balance - December 31, 2011 1,283 138,626 9,685 90,652 4,485 244,731

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance - January 1, 2011 (200) (7,387) -                                 (6,794) (488) (14,869)

Depreciation (445) (14,774) (464) (14,877) (907) (31,467)

Balance - December 31, 2011 (645) (22,161) (464) (21,671) (1,395) (46,336)

Net carrying amount as at 
December 31, 2011

638 116,465 9,221 68,981 3,090 198,395

2012

9.      PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

All depreciation (and impairment or reversals if any) are included within “Operating and Administrative Expenses”. 

As at December 31, 2012, acquisitions of property and equipment for an amount of $ 17,380 (nil in 2011) were included in trade and other payables.

2011
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GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

2012 2011
$ $

Trade accounts 497,751 209,790

Other payables 25,891                            87,800

Due to directors and companies under their control without interest 335,394 90,217

859,036 387,807

2012 2011

$ $

27,603 70,276

281,180 -

151,237 -

- 55,181

460,020 125,457

2012 2011

$ $

885,268 660,516

(a) Debentures from related parties:

Company in which an officer is also director 646,125 471,121

Company under control of a director 40,660 43,666

Promissory notes from directors and companies under their control, bearing interest at 12%,
repayable at the option of the Corporation at any time, or upon demand of lender

Convertible debentures at the Corporation's option or at the holder's option, bearing interest 
at 10%, redeemable by the Corporation after June 30, 2013, maturing in June 2015. (a)

Short-term loan, bearing interest at 15%, maturing on May 27, 2013

12.    CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

The Corporation contracted during the year the following short term financial liabilities:

10.      TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

11.    SHORT-TERM LOANS

Short-term loans, bearing interest at 14%

Promissory notes from a company in which an officer is also director, bearing interest at 15%,
repayable at the option of the Corporation at any time, or upon demand of the lender, maturing
on January 5, 2013 and April 5, 2013

 The effective interest rate used is 15%.

The principal amount of the debentures, plus capitalized and accrued interest outstanding at the time of conversion, will be convertible after June 30,
2013 at the holder's option into debenture unit and each debenture unit comprising of one class A share and one-half warrant of the Corporation at a
conversion price of 95% of the weighted average trading price of the class A shares on a Canadian Stock Exchange for the 20 consecutive trading days
ending five trading days preceding the proposed conversion date.

During the year, the Corporation issued $ 125,000 convertible debentures. Of this amount, the liability and equity component represent $ 108,191 and
$16,809 respectively. Also, a convertible debenture representing $ 11,313 (including $ 1,313 of interests) was exercised. The details of the transaction
are presented in note 15 c).

Transaction costs for issuing the convertible debentures amounted to $ 0 ($ 10,757 in 2011).

Interests in all short term loans are capitalized on a quarterly basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

2012 2011

$ $

337,398 -                         

78,017 -                         

63,449 -                         

478,864 -                         

2012 2011

$ $

(812,158)                    (343,400)          

389,363                       278,350             

416,929                       163                      

10,973                          20,580                

-                                    9,005                  

(5,107)                          809                      

-                                    (34,493)             

     Current tax recoverable -                                    -                         

     Deferred tax recoverable:

-                                    (34,493)             

-                                    (34,493)             

(a) As part of the reverse acquisition (Note 6), an amount of $ 315,513 of the term loan was 
transferred from FRV. This transaction has no impact on cash flows.

Income taxes calculated using the combined federal and provincial income tax rate in Canada 
of 26.9% (28.4% in 2011)

The income tax recoverable is detailed as follows: 

         - Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Promissory notes from a company controlled by a director, bearing interest at 15%. The 
principal and interest will be due on January 15, 2014.

     Unrecorded tax benefits

13.    LONG-TERM LOANS

Term loan from a company in which an officer is also director bearing interest at 10%. The 
principal and interest will be due on April 28, 2014. (a)

     Others

The Corporation's effective income tax rate differs from the combined federal and provincial income tax rate in Canada. The combined federal and
provincial income tax rate is lower than 2011 rate because of a change in the federal tax rate as of January 1, 2012. This difference arises from the
following items:

14.    INCOME TAXES

     Change in statutory rate

     Non-deductible expenses

     Difference with foreign tax rates

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from the following:

Loan, bearing interest at 14%. The principal and interest will be due on January 15, 2014.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

January 1, 2012 Recognized in 
earnings

Recognized in 
equity

December 31, 
2012

$ $ $ $

Non-capital losses 28,616                        (28,616)                       -                         -                         

Convertible debentures (28,616)                     28,616                          -                         -                         

-                                  -                                    -                         -                         

January 1, 2011 Recognized in 
earnings

Recognized in 
equity

December 31, 
2011

$ $ $ $

Non-capital losses -                                  28,616                          -                         28,616                

Convertible debentures -                                  5,877                            (34,493)             (28,616)             

-                                  34,493                          (34,493)             -                         

Canada Dominican 
Republic$ $

Non-capital losses 1,564,815 1,524,994

Intangible asset 11,398 -                         

Share issuance cost 24,848 -                         

1,601,061 1,524,994

Canada
Dominican 

Republic

2015 355,676             

2016 577,588             

2017 591,730             

2030 181,749                       

2031 592,458                       

2032 790,608                       

1,564,815                    1,524,994         

Accordingly, no deferred tax asset has been recognized on the following tax losses carry forward and temporary differences:

14.    INCOME TAXES (continued)

As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation has non-capital losses carry forward available to offset future taxable income for tax purposes. The losses are
detailed as follows:  

The ability to realize the tax benefits is dependent upon a number of factors, including the future profitability of operations in the jurisdictions in which
the tax losses arose. Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets only to
the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the asset to be recovered.

Changes in deferred tax assets (liabilities) related to temporary differences during the years are as follows: 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

The share capital of the Corporation consists only of fully paid class A shares.

Authorized

Class A shares issued and fully paid:

Notes Number Amount $ Number Amount $

Balance, as at January 1 94,583,303                 538,818                         94,583,303        538,818              

Reverse stock split (a) (92,691,637)               -                                        -                             -                             

Shares issued pursuant to reverse acquisition 6 68,536,689 378,333 -                             -                             

Issuance costs related to reverse acquisition 6 -                                      (59,655) -                             -                             

Issued pursuant to a  private placement (b) 5,360,000 917,632 -                             -                             

75,419 9,514 -                             -                             

Share issue costs (b) -                                      (29,532) -                             -                             

Balance, as at December 31 75,863,774 1,755,110 94,583,303 538,818

On May 30, 2012 the class A shares of the Corporation were approved for listing on the CNSX and initiated trading on June 1, 2012. 

(a) On April 11, 2012, the 94,583,303 pre-RTO class A shares outstanding were consolidated to 1,891,666 class A shares on a 50 for 1 basis.

 Number of warrants 
 Weighted average 

exercise price 
 Number of 

warrants 

 Weighted 
average exercise 

price 

 $  $ 

Outstanding, as at January 1 4,790,669                    0.31                                 4,790,669           0.31                       

5,360,000                    0.40 -                         -                         

Warrants cancelled during the year (a) (3,200,000) 0.29                                 -                         -                         

Warrants expired during the year (1,590,669) 0.37                                 -                         -                         

Warrants issued pursuant to the conversion debenture (Note 15) 37,710                          0.20                                 -                         -                         

Exercisable and outstanding, as at December 31 5,397,710 0.40 4,790,669 0.31

The following table summarizes the changes in warrants:

16.    WARRANTS

2012

2012

Warrants granted during the year  (Note 15)

2011

2011

Unlimited number of class A shares voting and participating without par value.

(b) On May 31, 2012, the Corporation announced the closing of the first tranche of a private placement which consisted of an issue of 5,360,000 units at a
price of $0.20 per unit, each unit comprised of one Class A share of GSFC and one Class A purchase warrant exercisable at a price of $0.40 per share until
November 30, 2013. The gross proceeds of $1,072,000 was allocated to the shares and warrants proportionately to their respective estimated fair
values. As a result, $154,368 was allocated to warrants and $917,632 was added to share capital. The issue costs of $34,500 were allocated to shares
and warrants proportionately to their respective estimated fair value. Accordingly, $29,532 was deducted from share capital and $4,968 was
deducted from  warrants. 

(c) On November 20, 2012, a total of 75,419 Class A shares and 37,710 warrants were issued following the exercise of the conversion option on the
convertible debenture.

Shares issued pursuant to the debenture conversion 
(c)

15.    SHARE CAPITAL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

The Corporation has the following share purchase warrants outstanding as at December 31, 2012:

 Weighted 
average exercise 

price ($) 
 Number 

Expiry date

November 30, 2013 0.40 5,360,000

December 1, 2013 0.20 37,710

0.40 5,397,710

The fair value of the share purchase warrants granted and issued during the year was $ 156,167 (nil in 2011). 

Expiry Date Expiry Date

30-11-2013 01-12-2013

Expected average volatility 84% 84%
Risk-free average interest rate 1.06% 1.12%
Expected average life (days) 548 376
Rate of return of dividends 0% 0%

Share price at date of grant $ 0.18 $ 0.17

Weighted average exercise price $ 0.40 $ 0.20

Fair value of warrants granted $ 0.0288 $ 0.0477

On May 17, 2012, the Board of Directors granted to management 7,000,000 share purchase options with an exercise price of $0.20 per share and had been
determined by the Board of Directors, vested immediately at grant date, expiring on December 7, 2015 and providing that any person who no longer
provides services to the Corporation shall have 90 days to exercise the option following such date. 

0.9

16.    WARRANTS (continued)

0.9

In connection with the transaction (Note 6), the Corporation underwrote the stock option plan of FRV. The Corporation then replaced the stock option
plan with a new one. 

Each outstanding warrant entitles their holder to subscribe to an equal number of class A shares.

(a) On May 17, 2012, all warrants granted by GSFG have been cancelled as part of the private placement. 

 Weighted average remaining contractual 
life (years) 

The following table presents the assumptions used in the fair value calculation using Black & Scholes warrant pricing model and the resulting fair value: 

0.9

The Corporation's shares are traded on an active market only since June 2012, the expected volatility was determined by reference to a public Corporation
that is also acting in the fishing and farming sector using historical data over the expected life of the warrants.

17.    STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS

24



GLOBAL SEAFARMS CORPORATION INC.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

Number
Weighted average 
exercise price ($)

Number

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
($)

Outstanding, as at January 1 750,000                        0.29                                 750,000 0.29

7,000,000                    0.20                                 -                         -                         

Options cancelled (750,000)                     0.29                                 -                         -                         

Options exercisable and outstanding, as at December 31 7,000,000 0.20 750,000              0.29                      

December 7, 2015 0.20  $                           7,000,000 2.9

Expiry Date

07-12-2015

Expected average volatility 84%
Risk-free average interest rate 1.11%
Expected average life (days) 1,285
Rate of return of dividends 0%

Weighted average exercise price $ 0,20

Fair value of warrants granted $ 0,0922

Share price at date of grant $ 0,18

925,200                        0.10

(925,200)                     0.10

-                                 -                                   

2011

Number of options 
outstanding

A summary of the stock options is presented below:

The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding at December 31, 2012:

17.    STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Weighted average 
exercise price ($)

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual life 

(years)

The Corporation's shares are traded on an active market only since June 2012, the expected volatility was determined by reference to a public Corporation
that is also acting in the fishing and farming sector using historical data over the expected life of the options.

Expiry Date

Options granted 

2012

Weighted average 
exercised price

($)
Number

Outstanding as at October 31, 2011

Outstanding as at May 17, 2012

Stock options of FRV prior to reverse acquisition are as follow:

The amount recorded for stock based compensation is included in selling and administrative expenses as stock-based payments of $ 645,400 (nil in 2011). 

Cancelled on March 18, 2012
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

 Carrying 
amount 

Fair value
 Carrying 
amount 

Fair value

Financial assets $ $ $ $

Financial assets - loans and receivables

   Cash 78,611 78,611 40,383 40,383

   Trade and other receivables 48,882 48,882 12,934 12,934

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

   Trade and other payables 859,036 859,036 387,807 387,807

   Short-term loans 460,020 460,020 125,457 125,457

   Convertible debentures 885,268 885,268 660,516 660,516

   Long term loans 478,864 478,864 -                         -                         

19.    ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

2012 2011

$ $

Management fees 170,000 98,500

Other general and administrative expenses 328,333 187,202

Depreciation of property and equipment 927 907

Stock-based payments 645,400 -                                   

1,144,660 286,609

Depreciation of property and equipment included in operating expenses is $ 34,928 ($ 30,560 in 2011)

2012 2011

Employee benefits expense $ $

Salaries 82,388 73,480

Fringe benefits costs 19,208 14,915

Expenses for stock-based compensation plan 645,400 -                                   

746,996 88,395

Allocated:

     Operating expenses 101,596 88,395

     Selling and administrative expenses 645,400 -                                   

746,996 88,395

The carrying amount and fair value of financial instruments presented in the consolidated statements of financial position related to the following classes
of assets and liabilities:

The amount of inventories recognized as an expense during the year is $ 81,756 ($ 4,046 in 2011) and is presented in 
the cost of goods sold.

18.    FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The fair value of cash, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and short-term loans is comparable to its carrying amount given the short 
period to maturity, i.e. the time value of money is not significant. 

2012 2011

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible debentures and long-term loans was determined by discounting future cash flows using
interest rates that the Corporation could obtain on the market for financial liabilities with similar terms and conditions and maturities. The fair value of
these instruments approximated the carrying value.

Selling and administrative expenses
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

2012 2011

$ $

Bank and interest charge 37,690 7,608

Interest on short-term loans 39,167 41,116

Interest on convertible debenture 106,134 22,765

Interest on long-term loans 17,636 -                                   

200,627 71,489

2012 2011

$ $

Trade and other receivables (44,129) (39,519)

Inventories (54,172) -                                   

Biological assets (268,748) (49,032)

Prepaid expenses 10,791 (23,087)

Trade and other payables 389,815 237,481

33,557 125,843

Non-current assets are allocated based on their physical location. North America
 Dominican 

Republic 
Total

$ $ $

2012

Non-current assets by geographic area 2,163                              255,905              258,068              

2011

Non-current assets by geographic area 3,090                              195,305              198,395              

North America
 Dominican 

Republic 
Total

2012 $ $ $

Sales 106,868                         115,338              222,206              

2011

Sales -                                        17,620                 17,620                 

The Corporation has reviewed its activities and determined that it operates in a single reportable operating segment

The following information provides the required Corporation disclosures:

22.   ENTITY-WIDE REPORTING

20.    FINANCE COSTS

The changes in working capital items are detailed as follows:

Revenues from external customers have been identified on the basis of the customer's geographical location.

21.    ADDITIONAL INFORMATIONS – CASH FLOWS
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for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

2012 2011

$ $

Management fees 170,000 155,468

Stock-based payments 129,080 0

299,080 155,468

24.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Transactions with other related parties

There are no externally imposed capital requirements and the Corporation intends to maintain a flexible capital structure which is consistent with the
objectives stated above and to respond to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust
its capital structure, the Corporation may issue new shares or raise debt (secured, unsecured, convertible and/or other types of available debt
instruments).

The Corporation monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of deficiency. Capital for the reporting periods under review is summarized in the
consolidated statement of changes in deficiency. 

23.    RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Rent and telecommunication expenses were paid to a company under control of the key management personnel. The amount paid for the year represent $ 
20,169 ($ 8,695 in 2011). Also, the Corporation incurred professional fees with an entity in which a director of the Corporation is partner for an amount of 
$54,000 (nil in 2011). This amount is included in trade accounts payable as at December 31, 2012.

Transactions with key management personnel

Remuneration of the key management personnel (that is, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer), includes the following expenses:

These objectives will be achieved by managing the capital generated through internal growth, optimizing the use of lower cost capital and raising share
capital when required to fund growth initiatives as well as a conservative approach to safeguarding its statement of financial position.

Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions comprise special terms and conditions and no guarantees were given or received. Outstanding balances
are usually settled in cash.

During the reporting years, management personnel did not exercise any stock options.

The Corporation defines its capital as being its shareholders' equity. When managing capital, the Corporation’s objective is to: 

- safeguard the Corporation's assets and its ability to continue as going concern; 
- maximize the growth of its business and the return to its shareholders; 
- adjust the capital structure as necessary to fund growth as well as a conservative approach to safeguarding its statement of financial position.

The Corporation's related party transactions include transactions with its management and other related parties, as described below. 
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for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in Canadian dollars)

25.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISKS

Credit risk

Liquidity risk 

Total Non-current

0-6 month 6-12 month 1-5 years

Trade and accounts payable 516,044                       342,992                         859,036              -                             

Short-term loans 477,991                       -                                        477,991              -                             

Long-term loans -                                      -                                        -                             550,104              

Convertible debentures -                                      -                                        -                             1,140,717           

Total Non-current

0-6 month 6-12 month 1-5 years

Trade and accounts payable 326,718                       61,089                           387,807              -                             

Short-term loans 141,615                       -                                        141,615              -                             

Convertible debentures -                                      -                                        -                             931,941              

As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Corporation's maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets at the
reporting date.

There are no past due trade receivables at the reporting date, and no allowance for doubtful accounts. The Corporation's management considers that all
financial assets that are not impaired or past due for each reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.

The Corporation has very few trade accounts. The credit risk regarding cash is considered to be negligible because the counterparties are reputable banks. 

2012

2011

Current

The Corporation is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The main risks are credit risk and liquidity risk. The Corporation's risk
management is coordinated by the management. The Corporation does not enter into trading of financial assets for speculative purposes.

Over the past period, the Corporation has financed its development expense commitments, its working capital requirements and acquisitions through
private financings.

Before accepting a new customer, the Corporation inquiries the credit quality of the potential customer. To determine the collectability of a trade
receivable, the Corporation considers any change in credit quality from the date the credit was initially granted to the reporting date.

Contractual maturities of financial liabilities (including capital and interest) are as follows:

Liquidity risk management serves to maintain a sufficient amount of cash and to ensure that the Corporation has sources of financing such as private and
public investments for a sufficient amount. The Corporation establishes budgets and cash estimates for this purpose. 

Current
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(in Canadian dollars)

25.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISKS (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity

Interest rate sensitivity

26.  LEASES

$

2013 80,760

2014 47,300

2015 23,400

2016 3,900

155,360

27.  COMMITMENTS

The Corporation's operating lease agreements do not contain any contingent rent clauses. None of the operating lease agreements contain renewal or
purchase options on escalation clauses or any restrictions regarding dividends, further leasing or additional debt. No sublease payments or contingent
rent payment were made or received. No sublease income is expected as all assets held under lease agreements are used exclusively by the Corporation.

On September 20, 2012, the subsidiary entered into a new egg supply agreement. This agreement is for a period of twelve months and is expecting the
subsidiary to buy at least 3,000,000 live fertilized pompano eggs at a price of $CAD 0.055 ($US 0.055) per egg including shipping costs. 

The Corporation entered into a lease agreement with a company under control of a key management personnel on August 1, 2012. This agreement is
effective from August 1, 2012 and expire on February 28, 2016. The monthly payment is $1,950.

The minimum annual lease payments are as follows:

The subsidiary entered into a rental agreement for the farm on June 1st, 2012. This agreement is for a period of two years with a monthly payment of
$1,220 ($US 1,200). 

The Corporation is exposed to foreign exchange risk due to accounts payable denominated in US dollars. As at December 31, 2012, accounts payable 

Interest rate changes may affect the fair value of the fixed interest financial assets. Because these financial assets are recognized at amortized cost, the fair 

The subsidiary entered into a rental agreement for the hatchery on May 27, 2012. The agreement is for a period of two years with monthly payment of
$3,560 ($US 3,500).

The Corporation is not exposed to interest rate risk since all financial instruments are at fixed interest rates. 

The Corporation does not enter into arrangements to hedge its foreign exchange risk.
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(in Canadian dollars)

28.  COMPARATIVE FIGURES FOR PRIOR YEAR

Category $ $

Selling and administrative expenses
913,316              286,609              

Operating costs 247,928              Operating costs 874,635              

Category

Reclassifications made to 2011 consolidated statements of comprehensive loss are detailed below:

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the presentation of 2012 that was modified to present a better image of the activities
of the Corporation. 

2011 2011 (reclassified)

Selling and administrative 
expenses
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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the consolidated financial condition and results of 
the operations of Global SeaFarm Corporation (formerly “FRV Media Inc”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, 
“GSFC” or the “Corporation”) constitutes management’s review of the factors that affected the Corporation’s 
financial and operating performance for the year ended December 31, 2012. 
 
This MD&A, dated April 26, 2013, is intended to supplement and complement the Corporation’s audited 
consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”), and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2012 but do not form part of them. It is intended 
to help the reader understand and assess the significant trends, risks and uncertainties related to the results 
of operations and it should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements as at                    
December 31, 2012 and related notes thereto. 
 
The audited consolidated financial statements upon which this MD&A is based have been prepared in 
conformity with IFRS and require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts 
reported and disclosed in such audited consolidated financial statements and related notes. All dollar 
amounts in this MD&A are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated. 
 
The Corporation’s shares are traded on the Canadian National Stock Exchange (CNSX) and its trading symbol 
is “GSF”. Additional information relevant to the Corporation is available for review on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com. 
 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
  
Certain statements contained in this MD&A constitute forward-looking statements. All statements other than 
statements of historical fact may be forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are often, but 
not always, identified by the use of words such as “seek”, “anticipate”, “plan”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, 
“may”, “will”, “project”, “predict”, “potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe” and 
similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are necessarily based upon a number of estimates and 
assumptions that, while considered reasonable by the Corporation, are inherently subject to significant 
business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies. Known and unknown factors could 
cause actual results to differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements. 
  
Based on current available information, the Corporation believes that the expectations reflected in those 
forward-looking statements are reasonable, but no assurance can be given that those expectations will prove 
to be correct. The forward-looking statements in this MD&A are expressly qualified by this statement, and 
readers are advised not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements.  
 
While the Corporation may elect to, the Corporation does not undertake to update this information at any 
particular time except as required in accordance with applicable securities legislation. 
 
 
DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 
 
The Corporation is engaged in the identification and development of high-potential aquaculture projects in 
the Americas. The Corporation has two vectors to its growth strategy - warm water opportunities in the 
region of the Caribbean Sea and cold water opportunities in North America. The Corporation is currently 
expanding its warm water platform operation in the Dominican Republic and ramping up production of 
Florida Pompano for the U.S. seafood market. Caribbean SeaFarm (“CSF”), one of the wholly-owned 
subsidiary, is the primary operating business at this time, and maintains a commercial integrated fish farm in 
Santo Domingo and in the Salinas area on the South West coast. CSF has a permit for a large grow-out area 
that allows the company to deploy up to 48 25-meter production cages at that site. The current focus is on the 
production of Florida Pompano, a highly-prized white fleshed fish indigenous to the waters of the Caribbean. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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CORPORATION STRATEGY 
 
The Corporation is in the business of acquiring, developing and operating aquaculture projects with a current 
focus on the Americas. The Corporation has a two pronged strategy aimed at warm water opportunities in the 
region of the Caribbean Sea, and cold water opportunities in North America. The Corporation’s operating 
subsidiary in the Dominican Republic has a large warm water production site (described above). 
 
The Corporation’s also actively engaged in evaluating and pursuing aquaculture opportunities in Canada.  
 
MARKET OPPORTUNITY 
 
Aquaculture is estimated to produce 50% of the seafood consumed worldwide and is reported to be the 
fastest growing segment of the global agri-food industry. With an over 80% of global fish stocks fully 
exploited or overfished, incremental demand for seafood will be met from aquaculture sources. The 
Corporation is primarily focused on developing projects that will produce fish for the U.S. market. In 2010, 
imports made up 86% of the seafood eaten in the United States, with U.S. consumers spending an estimated 
$80B for fishery products. The United States is a major consumer of aquaculture products with an estimated 
50% of its imports from aquaculture sources. 
 
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR 
 
During the year, the Corporation continued to develop its inventory of market ready fish and drive sales to 
existing customers in the Dominican Republic and new prospects in the United States. The Corporation has 
been working on increasing its processing capacity from around 2,000 lbs per week to 8,000 lbs per week in 
response to growing customer demand. The Corporation has also been planning to time its production cage 
expansion plans with growth in initial sales as it reduces overall working capital requirement for operations 
in the Dominican Republic. The Corporation has been in the process of assessing and applying for three 
additional farm site locations on the island of Hispaniola and has also had initial discussions with three other 
jurisdictions in the Caribbean for development opportunities.  
 
OUTLOOK 
 
Management is very optimistic regarding the ongoing potential for aquaculture in general and its products in 
particular. Customer feedback on sales completed to date is very positive and reinforces management’s 
expectations for the market potential of the Corporation’s product. As such, management is engaged in 
identifying and assessing additional expansion and development opportunities in the Caribbean as well as 
reviewing additional cold water prospects in Canada.  
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RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS 

 
                                                  2012                              2011 

                                                    $                                $ 

        

SALES   222,206  17,620  

COST OF GOODS SOLD 109,349  5,998  

GROSS PROFIT 112,857  11,622  

        

EXPENSES     

Operating expenses 1,033,229  874,635  

Selling and administrative expenses 1,144,660   286,609 

Foreign exchange loss (32,520) (11,953) 

Total expenses 2,145,369  1,149,291  

        

Loss from operations (2,032,512) (1,137,669) 

Cost of listing 726,382                                               -       

Professional fees related to the transaction 59,655                                               -       

Finance costs 200,627  71,489  

Loss before income taxes (3,019,176) (1,209,158) 

        

Income taxes                                                                      -       34,493  

Net loss   (3,019,176) (1,174,665) 

        

Other Comprehensive loss     

Currency translation adjustement (22,014) 42,719  

Total comprehensive loss (3,041,190) (1,131,946) 

        

Net Loss per share     

     Basic and diluted  (0.04) (0.02) 

        

Weighted average number of class A shares outstanding   

     Basic and diluted 72,857,542 68,536,689 

 
 
The Corporation’s net loss totaled $3 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 (with basic and diluted 
loss per share of $0.04) compared to a net loss of $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 (with 
basic and diluted loss per share of $0.01). The net loss increase of $1.8 million is primarily due to higher 
operating expenses of $158,594, an increase of $858,051 in selling and administrative expenses and a cost of 
listing of $726,382 in 2012. 
 
GSFC is currently establishing its hatchery and ocean farm site for commercial production of fish. As at 
December 31, 2012, GSFC has continued to drive sales to existing customers in the Dominican Republic. The 
sales totalled $222,206 for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $17,620 for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 which is explain by the initiation of commercial sales in the last quarter of 2011. 
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FINANCIAL CONDITION REVIEW 
 
    December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 
    $ $ 
Currents assets                                          593,171                                     156,643     
Non-current assets                                          258,068                                     198,395     
Total assets                                            851,239                                     355,038     
        
Current liabilities                                      1,319,056                                     513,264     
Non-current liabilities                                      1,364,132                                     660,516     
Total liabilitites                                      2,683,188                                 1,173,780     
        
Deficiency                                     (1,831,949)                                 (818,742)    

 
 
 
Assets 
 
The total assets of GSFC increased by $496,201 from $355,038 as at December 31, 2011 to $851,239 as at 
December 31, 2012. This change mainly results from an increase of $338,064 in the value of biological assets 
and inventories. 
 
Liabilities 
 
The liabilities totaled $2,683,188 as of December 31, 2012, compared to $1,173,780 at the end of December 
2011, representing an increase of $1,509,408. The increase mainly results from four elements.  First, the 
trade and other payables increased due to the growth of the operations of GSFC. Secondly, GSFC contracted 
short-term and long-term loans for a total of $420,500. Moreover, a new convertible debenture was issued for 
a total consideration of $125,000. Finally, GSFC assumed a debt of $337,398 regarding the reverse 
acquisition. 
 
Deficiency 
 
Deficiency totaled an amount of $1,831,949 as of December 31, 2012, compared to a deficiency of $818,742 as 
of December 31, 2011, representing an increase of $1,013,207. 
 
This increase mainly results from an increase in the share capital due to the reverse acquisition for a net 
purchase price of $318,678, an issuance of 5,360,000 shares for a net proceeds of $888,100 and an increase of 
$9,514 resulting from the exercise of convertible debenture. Also, an increase in the other items affecting 
equity resulting from an issuance of warrants and stock based payments is offset by the net loss of the year of 
$3,019,176. 
 
At year-end, GSFC had 75,863,774 shares outstanding, 7,000,000 options outstanding under its stock option 
plan and 5,397,710 shares purchase warrants outstanding. 
 
GSFC has not paid any dividend on its class A shares. GSFC has no intention of paying dividend on its class A 
shares, as it anticipates that all funds will be invested to finance the growth of its business. 
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Warrants: 
 
The following table summarizes the status of GSFC’s share purchase warrants outstanding as at December 31, 
2012: 
 

Expiry  
date 

Weighted average 
exercise  

price 

 
Number 

 

November 30, 2013 0.40  $ 5,360,000 

December 1, 2013 0.20  $       37,710 

Balance as of December 31, 2012  
5,397,710 

 
Options: 
 
As at December 31, 2012, GSFC had the following outstanding and exercisable stock options: 
 

Expiry  
date 

Weighted 
average exercise  

price 

 
Number 

 

December 7, 2015 0.20  $ 7,000,000 

Balance as of December 31, 2012 0.20  $ 7,000,000 

 
 
SUMMARY OF QUATERLY REVIEW 
 
   2012 

    Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

    $ $ $ $ 
Sales                        117,490                             50,016                             12,125                    42,575     
 
Net comprehensive earnings (loss)                178,396                       (649,217)                (2, 285,963)             (284,406)    
 
Net earnings (loss) per share – 
basic and diluted                            0.01                              (0.01)                              (0.03)    

                                   
(0.01)    

 
 
Adjustment to Net comprehensive loss for Q2 and Q3: 
 
Net comprehensive loss for the period ended June 30, 2012 has been adjusted following a reassessment of the 
total consideration transferred in the transaction of the acquisition of FRV by GSFG. For more details on the 
transaction, refer to Note 6 in the consolidated financial statements.  
 
In the consolidated financial statements for the second quarter ended June 30, 2012 and for the third quarter 
ended September 30, 2012, the consideration transferred pursuant to the reverse acquisition transaction 
more fully described in Note 6 had been established according to the number of shares issued as part of the 
transaction (68,536,689 class A shares) whereas under IFRS accounting policies, the number of FRV shares 
outstanding immediately preceding the acquisition of net assets (1,891,666 class A shares) should be used in 
the calculation of the consideration transferred.  Accordingly, the following adjustment has been made to 
comprehensive loss: 
 



    
Global SeaFarms Corporation INC. 
Management’s Discussion & Analysis 
For the year ended December 31, 2012 

 

7 | P a g e  
 

 
SUMMARY OF QUATERLY REVIEW (continued) 
 

Initial consideration transferred  $13,707,338 (68,536,689 class A shares X 0.20$/share) 

Adjusted consideration transferred $      378,333 (1,891,666 class A shares X 0.20$/share)  

Adjustment    $13,329,005 

     

Initial cost of listing    $14,055,387 

Adjustment    $13,329,005 

Adjusted cost of listing        $     726,382 

 

 
WORKING CAPITAL, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
Negative working capital as at December 31, 2012 was $725,885 compared to a negative working capital of 
$356,621 as at December 31, 2011.  As at December 31, 2012, GSFC has cash in the amount of $78,611. 
 

 

Year ended 
 December 31,  

2012 

Year ended 
 December 31,  

2011   

  $ $ 

Cash used in operating activities (1,454,134) (1,027,851) 

Cash used in investing activities (92,007) (23,192) 

Cash used by financing activites 1,523,524 890,200 

Net change in cash (22,617) (160,843) 

  
  Cash at the beginning of year 40,383 161,355 

Effect of exchange rates fluctuations on 
cash held in foreign currencies 60,845 39,871 

Cash at the end of the year 78,611 40,383 

 
Cash used in operating activities 
 
Cash used in operating activities reflects the operating expenses and working capital operation of GSFC. 
 
Cash used in investing activities 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2012, net cash was used for the acquisition of property and equipment 
to support the operations. 
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WORKING CAPITAL, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued) 
 
Cash used by financing activities 
 
The financing activities consisted in a combination of short-term loans, long-term loans and convertible 
debentures of $545,500 and a private placement net of issue costs for $1,037,500.   
 
GSFC’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that GSFC will continue as a going 
concern. GSFC is currently in the initial phase of its commercial production of fish.  GSFC has not yet 
generated positive net cash flow from its operations. GSFC has plans for substantial capital projects through 
various means including issuance of debt. 
 
GSFC’s continuation as a going concern is dependent upon, amongst other things, attaining a satisfactory 
revenue level, attaining profitable operations and the generation of cash from operations, the ability to secure 
new financing arrangements and new capital. These matters are dependent on a number of items outside of 
GSFC’s control. 
 
 

SIGNIFICANT CONTRACT AND COMMITMENT 
 

GSFC’s significant contracts are presented in Note 27 of the audited consolidated financial statements as at 
December 31, 2012. 
 
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 

There were no off-balance sheet arrangements as at December 31, 2012. 
 
 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

GSFC's related parties include its key management and other companies under common management. 
Remuneration paid to companies under control of the key management personnel (that is, the President and 
Vice-President), including amounts paid in cash and compensation totals $299,080 (which included a stock-
based payment expense of $129,080) for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $155,468 for the 
year ended December 31, 2011. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Corporation entered into promissory notes agreements with 
directors and companies under their control for a total principal amount of $78,017 bearing interest at 15%. 
The Corporation also paid rent and telecommunication expense amounting to $20,169 to this company. 
 
During the reporting year, key management personnel did not exercise any share options. 
 
 

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 

When preparing the audited consolidated financial statements, management undertakes a number of 
judgments, estimates and assumptions about recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. The actual results are likely to differ from the judgments, estimates and assumptions made by 
management, and will seldom equal the estimated results. Information about the significant judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on the recognition and measurement of 
inventory and biological assets, the useful lives of depreciable assets, the impairment of property and 
equipment, the risk of going concern assumption and the stock-based payments. 
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 

GSFC’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting. Any system of internal control over financial reporting, no matter how well designed, has inherent 
limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance 
with respect to consolidated financial statement preparation and presentation. Further, the design of a 
control system reflects the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be 
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, they cannot 
provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within GSFC have been 
prevented or detected. 
 

GSFC’s management has evaluated the design and effectiveness of GSFC’s disclosure controls and procedures. 
Based on the results of that evaluation, GSFC’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have 
concluded that, as of the end of the year covered by this report, GSFC’s disclosure controls and procedures 
were effective to provide the reasonable assurance that the information to be disclosed in reports it files is 
recorded, processed and summarized and reported within the appropriate time periods and forms. 
 

GSFC’s management has also evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of GSFC’s internal control over 
financial reporting as of the end of the year covered by this report. The risk of a significant error is mitigated 
by the active involvement of senior management and the board of directors in all the affairs of GSFC. Based on 
the result of the assessment, GSFC’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that 
GSFC’s internal controls over financial reporting have been adequately designed.  
 

There have been no changed in GSFC’s internal control over financial reporting during the year that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the internal control over financial reporting.  
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
GSFC’s significant accounting policies are presented in Note 4 of the audited consolidated financial 
statements. Certain of these policies involve critical judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amount of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The 
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on past experience and other factors perceived to be 
relevant and probable when the judgments were made. Estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis and the 
changes to the accounting estimates are accounted prospectively.  
 
KEY RISKS 
 
Due to the nature of GSFC’s business and present stage of development, GSFC is subject to significant risks. 
Risk factors relating to GSFC include, but are not limited to reliance on additional financing and related to the 
start-up of GSFC’s operations in developing countries.  
 
Crop Failure  
 
All fish farming operations are vulnerable to failure to produce a crop. Most fish crop failures are a direct 
result of escapes, disease, plankton infestation and/or contamination of the fish population from outside 
sources. GSFC has taken exhaustive steps, through the design of its operations and through the monitoring 
and management of fish stocks, to mitigate the development of these conditions could cause the wholesale 
loss of an entire crop. Feed conversions and feed quality may affect the production of biomass which could 
lower the yield of and size of cultured species, resulting in lower than anticipated harvest size and lower 
revenue.  
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KEY RISKS (continued) 
 
Operations in Developing Countries 
 
GSFC is active in the Dominican Republic and is actively engaged in evaluating other project opportunities in 
developing markets. These countries often lack the consistency of infrastructure (electrical grids, water 
utilities) that would otherwise be prevalent in a developed country, and are also often in the early stages of 
developing their regulatory frameworks for the oversight of industries like aquaculture. As a result, GSFC may 
be subject to permitting delays and risks related to the availability and robustness of key operating 
infrastructure.  
 
Competition and Market Risks 
 
GSFC’s initial focus species of Florida Pompano does not have any material competitor from a farmed source 
and the legal commercial harvest of this species is relatively small. As such there is no established market 
price for the product as one might have for salmon or halibut.  
 
Feed costs account for a significant proportion of total production costs within the fish farming sector and 
fluctuations in feed prices could have a major impact on profitability. Feed prices are affected by the global 
market for fishmeal and marine/animal, vegetable oils and the fact that the feed industry is dominated by a 
small number of large, global producers. Natural limitations in the marine resource base could lead to global 
shortages of fishmeal and oil for fish feed producers. Efforts to replace marine-based inputs with vegetable 
raw materials have reduced industry sensitivity to these factors significantly over the past decade or so.  
 
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk  
 
GSFC is subject to foreign currency exchange rate risks in particular the risk relating to the fluctuation in 
value among the Canadian dollar, Dominican Peso (“DRP”) and United States dollar (“USD”). GSFC’s major 
operating expenses and fixed assets in the Dominican Republic are denominated in DRP. Consequently, 
GSFC’s profitability and value of assets are subject to exchange rates risks among Canadian dollars and DRP. A 
rising DRP relative to the Canadian dollar would increase operating costs and thus affect the profitability of 
GSFC. GSFC also procures supplies and equipment in USD and as a result is subject to the same currency 
exchange risks.  
 
Environmental Risks and Regulatory Requirements 
 
GSFC’s current and future operations will be governed by environmental laws and regulations covering its 
industry. These laws and regulations are specific to each jurisdiction in which GSFC operates and as such is 
subject to the risk of legislative and regulatory change initiatives of these jurisdictions.  
 
Dependence on, and Protection of, Key Personnel  
 
GSFC is dependent upon the continued support and involvement of its managers, directors and officers to 
develop its business and operations. If GSFC were to lose their services, GSFC’s ability to implement its 
business plans could be severely curtailed or delayed.  
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KEY RISKS (continued) 
 
Liquidity Concerns and Future Financing Requirements  
 
GSFC may require additional financing in order to fund its plan of operations. GSFC’s ability to arrange such 
financing in the future will depend in part upon prevailing capital market conditions, as well as GSFC’s 
resulting business success. There can be no assurance that GSFC will be successful in its efforts to arrange 
additional financing on terms satisfactory to the same. If additional financing is raised by the issuance of 
common shares from treasury, control of GSFC may change and Shareholders may suffer additional dilution. 
If adequate funds are not available, or are not available on acceptable terms, GSFC may not be able to take 
advantage of other opportunities, curtail business operations or cancel planned projects, or otherwise remain 
in business.  
 
Acquisitions 
 
GSFC’s GSF’s strategy contemplates the ongoing review and assessment of acquisitions of assets and 
operations in various different markets and as such GSFC will be subject to the risks of such acquisitions 
including integration risk, due diligence risk, retention of key personnel risk, permit transferability risk, 
amongst others.  
 


